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MANDATE
Medicine Hat College is a public, board-governed college operating
as a Comprehensive Community Institution under the authority of
the Post-secondary Learning Act of Alberta.
As a learner-centred institution, Medicine Hat College serves a
diverse range of students in major areas of study including: liberal
arts; business/commerce; health and human services; visual and
performing arts; science and technology; apprenticeship and preemployment trades; foundational learning and academic upgrading;
and non-credit, lifelong learning and continuing education programs.
Medicine Hat College focuses on five primary types of programming:
• University transfer programs that prepare learners for further study.
• Certificate, diploma, and applied degree programs that prepare
learners for entry to careers and employment.
• Collaborative undergraduate degrees delivered in partnership with
degree-granting institutions.
• College entrance programming that prepares learners for success in
further post-secondary studies.
• Pre-employment and apprenticeship trades programming that
prepares learners for trades employment and careers.
Programs and services at the college are learner-centred and provide
graduates with opportunities to improve their lives and advance their
careers. Medicine Hat College emphasizes small classes, high-quality
instruction, and excellent student support.
Students at Medicine Hat College are supported by a range
of services that contribute to academic, social, and personal
development. Student supports include library services, academic
advising, disabilities services, learning skills development, cultural
activities, career services, residence services, daycare, counselling, and
recreation and wellness programs. These services are designed to
benefit students by increasing their opportunities for success.
Medicine Hat College encourages scholarly activity and applied
research to enhance teaching excellence and quality programming.
The college also conducts scholarly activity and applied research to
foster innovation in support of industry sectors where our academic
expertise can contribute to economic and community development.

Medicine Hat College is a proud member of Campus Alberta. Our
commitment to the principles of Campus Alberta is demonstrated
through collaboration and partnership within the Alberta postsecondary system. This collaboration strengthens programming and
increases access to quality learning opportunities through initiatives
such as transfer credit and program brokerage.
By incorporating a global focus in our programming, serving a
diverse range of Canadian and international students, and providing
opportunities for work and study abroad, the college aims to provide
all learners with opportunities to develop the skills and attitudes
required to function successfully in an interconnected global society.
As a Comprehensive Community Institution with regional stewardship
responsibilities, Medicine Hat College works with community-based
adult learning partners such as school jurisdictions; non-profit,
educational, and governmental organizations; business; industry;
and other community stakeholders to respond to learning needs in
its geographic service area of southeastern Alberta. Medicine Hat
College responds to regional needs by providing customized training,
professional development, English as a Second Language training,
community interest courses, and conservatory-style music and
dance instruction. Through our facilities and services, the college
also responds to the information, cultural, recreational, fitness,
conferencing, and community event needs of the communities we
serve.
With campuses in Medicine Hat and Brooks, the college offers
credit and non-credit instruction on a full-time, part-time, and
distributed learning basis to students across Alberta, Canada, and
around the world. Medicine Hat College programs are also provided
internationally on the campuses of partner institutions.
Medicine Hat College is dedicated to providing access to high-quality,
responsive, lifelong learning opportunities and to the responsible
educational, fiscal, and environmental stewardship of resources.
Approved by Alberta Advanced Education and Technology,
November 23, 2010
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ACCOUNTABILITY
STATEMENT OF BOARD ACCOUNTABILITY
Medicine Hat College’s Annual Report for the year ended June 30, 2019 was prepared under the Board’s
direction in accordance with the Fiscal Management Act and ministerial guidelines established pursuant
to the Fiscal Management Act. All material economic, environmental or fiscal implications of which we
are aware have been considered in the preparation of this report.
On behalf of the Medicine Hat College Board of Governors,

[Original signed by Graham Kelly]
Chair, Medicine Hat College Board of Governors
November 19, 2019

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR REPORTING
Medicine Hat College’s management is responsible for the preparation, accuracy, objectivity and
integrity of the information contained in the Annual Report including the financial statements,
performance results and supporting management information. Systems of internal control are designed
and maintained by management to produce reliable information to meet reporting requirements. The
system is designed to provide management with reasonable assurance that transactions are properly
authorized, are executed in accordance with all relevant legislation, regulations and policies, reliable
financial records are maintained and assets are properly accounted for and safeguarded.
The Annual Report has been developed under the oversight of the Board of Governors’ Finance and
Audit Committee, as well as approved by the Board of Governors and is prepared in accordance with
the Fiscal Planning and Transparency Act and the Post-Secondary Learning Act.
The Auditor General of the Province of Alberta, the institution’s external auditor appointed under the
Auditor General Act, performs an annual independent audit of the consolidated financial statements
which are prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

[Original signed by Kevin Shufflebotham] 		
[Original signed by Wayne Resch, CPA, CMA]
President and CEO 				
Vice-President,
						Administration & Finance
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PRESIDENT’S MESSAGE

Medicine Hat College is a Comprehensive Community College
working with the region to build strong communities and to assist
in the promotion of a strong diversified economy. At the core of
this mandate is our commitment to ensure students are ready to
transition into active members of the economy.
Our achievements over the 2018 – 2019 academic year reflect
our commitment to student success and as a full partner in the
success of our region. As a Comprehensive Community College
with regional stewardship responsibilities, Medicine Hat College
has worked with community-based adult learning partners such
as school jurisdictions; non-profit, educational, and governmental
organizations; business; industry; and other community
stakeholders to respond to learning needs in its geographic service
area of southeastern Alberta.
We are grateful for the support of the many community
stakeholders who directly impact our students. Community
organizations and businesses provide work placements for students,
offer advice through our advisory committees, and provide
mentorship and financial support to assist students to meet their
educational goals. These contributions are greatly appreciated and
are vital to our success.

While our enrolment has been in decline, efforts are being
made to reverse this trend, with a renewed emphasis on our
Strategic Enrolment Plan and the creation of new programming
opportunities and collaborative degrees for our students. The
number of applications increased to an all-time high in 2018 – 2019
and the student retention rate is on the rise.
Medicine Hat College has started the planning process for our
2020-2030 Strategic Plan, which will set our direction over the
next 10 years. In plotting our new path, we will work together to
open doors and minds, making all learning count by inspiring our
thinking, removing barriers and providing opportunity, when and
where possible. We have inspiring faculty and staff who place the
student interest first and foremost. This is what makes Medicine Hat
College a model community college, both now and in the future.
We are looking forward to strengthening our role as a
Comprehensive Community College for the betterment of students
and the region in the upcoming year!

[Original signed by Kevin Shufflebotham]
President and CEO
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LEADERSHIP TEAM 2017/18
LEADERSHIP TEAM
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

COLLEGE EXECUTIVE

Graham Kelly, Chair
Public Member [APPOINTED OCTOBER 18, 2017]

Kevin Shufflebotham
President and CEO

Mohammed Idriss, Vice-chair
Public Member

Wayne Resch
Vice-President,
Administration & Finance

Davin Carter
Public Member
Patricia Cocks
Public Member
Diane Gall, PhD
Academic Member
Kelly Garland
Public Member
Jade Kent
Non-Academic Member
Elizabeth Lewis
Student Member
Petra Mauerhoff
Public Member
Kevin Shufflebotham
President and CEO
ex officio
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Terry Chapman, PhD
Vice-President, Academic and Provost
David Petis
Vice-President,
Advancement & Community Relations
Irlanda Price
Associate Vice-President,
Student Development

LEADERSHIP TEAM 2017/18
DISCLOSURES
PUBLIC INTEREST DISCLOSURE ACT
The Public Interest Disclosure (Whistleblower Protection) Act applies to provincial
government departments, offices of the Legislature, and to public entities (which include
any agency, board, commission, crown corporation, or other entity designated in the
regulations).
The purposes of the Act are to:
• facilitate the disclosure and investigation of significant and serious matters an 		
employee believes may be unlawful, dangerous, or injurious to the public interest;
• protect employees who make a disclosure;
• manage, investigate and make recommendations respecting disclosures or 		
wrongdoings and reprisals; and
• promote public confidence in the administration of the departments, legislature
offices, and public entities.
As per Section 32(1)(3) f the Act, the following is a report from Medicine Hat College on
all disclosures that have been made during the 2018 – 2019 year:
1.

The number of disclosures received, acted on, and not acted on.
There were 16 reports received.

2.

The number of investigations commenced.
There were 13 investigations.

3.

A description of any wrongdoing found and any recommendations made or
corrective measures taken regarding the wrongdoing or reasons why no
corrective measure was taken.
Human Resource policies were found to be applicable to the disclosure reports
filed. There were no disclosures that would fall into the definition of “wrongdoing” as
defined by legislation.

[Original signed by Kevin Shufflebotham]
President and CEO
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OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW
The past year has been significant in the
development of Medicine Hat College.
With change triggered internally by the
search for and selection of a new president,
coupled with the strong need to align
with external trends such as the health
of provincial economy and needs of
employers, 2018-2019 can be considered a
pivotal year in the history of the college.

needs, and the institution developed
policy and actions to provide a safe and
welcoming environment for all students and
community members.

MHC is as strong, innovative, and resilient
as the people that work here. From
that perspective, ongoing investment in
leadership, development, and wellbeing of
employees is critical. In a time of transition,
the college is grateful for the leadership
of Wayne Resch who served as interim
president and guided the institution through
critical periods of change. The Board of
Governors also provided critical vision
and leadership throughout the process of
seeking and selecting the college’s next
president and CEO.

•

This institution prepared for strategic
planning with fresh perspective and
positive energy. President Shufflebotham
launched a strategic planning process that
is ideally timed to set the stage for the
college’s future contributions to learners,
employers, and the college’s service region.
The strategic planning process is intended
to look forward 10 years to create a college
that is aligned to the needs of the entire
region.
Even while this transition began, MHC
continued to focus on student success and
satisfaction. Programs continually adapt
content and methods to meet student
6

These ongoing actions are evident in the
2018-2021 edition of the Comprehensive
Institutional Plan (CIP) which set out
plans to:

•
•
•

Ensure quality and accessibility of
existing programs
Focus on student success and increase
retention and graduation rates
Bolster ongoing efforts to provide a
safe and welcoming environment
Achieve growth in programs and
facilities for the future.

MHC achieved much of the intent
expressed in the CIP. The Academic
Leadership Council ensured that existing
programs and partnerships provide the
quality demanded by students, and the
institutions with which MHC sustains vital
collaborative links. This team also launched
the Aviation Management Certificate in
partnership with a local business, as well as
the Global and Intercultural Competency
certificate.
Looking to the future, executive leaders
launched a shift toward a stage-gate process
for new program development to ensure
opportunities are evaluated and resourced
rapidly. This is a modification of a process
envisioned in the CIP, which forecast hiring
a dedicated staff position. In place of this
position, MHC developed a flexible process
enabling focus on regional needs whether

these are best met by credit or non-credit
opportunities.
Among the challenges MHC continues
to address is enrolment. In the past year,
the college received a record number
of applications, yet enrolment declined.
Significant evaluation of the root causes
of this apparent contradiction, and
implementation of solutions to serve
students, is ongoing. More positively, efforts
to improve retention rates are succeeding,
offering confidence that the enrolment
challenge will also be addressed.
As with all organizations, the college
adjusted plans based on the realities
encountered through the year. The wellness
facility envisioned in our capital plan has
been scaled to deliver critical learning
and accessibility components, all within
resources already available to MHC.
Aspects of the revised capital project will
enhance the college’s capacity to provide a
welcoming and safe environment that offers
relevant cultural experiences.
This project is also well aligned with the
depth of policy development, and service
provision, intended to address societal
issues such as sexual violence, and the
acceptance of different cultures and
expectations.
The year past has positioned MHC for a
strong step forward with continued focus
on the outcomes that students, employers,
and communities value.

REPORT ON GOALS
This section features
outcomes achieved and
progress made towards
the goals shared in the
Comprehensive
Institutional Plan.
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ACCESSIBILITY
MINISTERIAL PRIORITY: EVERY ALBERTAN SHOULD HAVE THE SAME OPPORTUNITY TO GET A POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION.

G1. CONTINUED IMPLEMENTATION OF STRATEGIC ENROLMENT MANAGEMENT PLAN
PRIORITY INITIATIVES

EXPECTED
COMPLETION DATE

STATUS

PROGRESS MADE
IN LAST 12 MONTHS

REVISED
COMPLETION
DATE

Review recruitment processes, with particular
focus on inquiry generation through registrant
stage, to improve conversion rates

June 30, 2019

Ongoing

Recruitment plan updated and activated

N/A

June 30, 2019

Ongoing

Two enrolment management subcommittees – Recruitment and Retention
– met monthly to monitor progress and
adjust activity

N/A

June 30, 2019

Ongoing

Creation, delivery, and evaluation of
enhanced recruitment plans for the
Bachelor of Business Administration,
Visual Communications, Computer-Aided
Drafting and Design / Built Environment
Engineering Technology

June 30, 2020

June 30, 2019

Ongoing

Increased international applications

N/A

June 30, 2019

Ongoing

Increased international enrolment to
approximately 12% of total FLE

N/A

June 30, 2019

Ongoing

Increased the number of intercultural
activities on campus, a contributing
factor in measures of cultural awareness
on campus which increased from 68%
to 71%, a specific question in campus
surveys

N/A

June 30, 2019

Ongoing

Efforts to diversify international markets
launched

N/A

June 30, 2019

Complete

Revision of agent agreements

N/A

Implementation of various international
recruitment strategies (e.g. expansion
of markets, increased digital marketing
activity, maximization of partner and agent
relationships, improved conversion rates,
targeted program development)
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MHC BOARD OF GOVERNORS ENDS
GOALS

MHC STUDENTS REACH FULL POTENTIAL

Medicine Hat College strives to ensure education is accessible to all people.
Further, the college is committed to providing an inclusive and safe environment for all.
G1
G2
G3
G4

Continued Implementation of Strategic Enrolment Management Plan
Increase participation of, and connection with First Nation, Metis & Inuit learners
Expand the range of educational opportunities to serve the region
Increased awareness of Sexual Violence

G1. CONTINUED IMPLEMENTATION OF STRATEGIC ENROLMENT MANAGEMENT PLAN
EXPECTED OUTCOMES

RESULTS ACHIEVED

Increase in recruitment (2% overall)

Applications positive but enrolment trended downward

Increase in retention (1% overall)

Achieved

Increased recruitment and retention of underrepresented groups targeted within the
Strategic Enrolment Management Plan

Ongoing

Completion of targeted, comprehensive Strategic Enrolment Management plans for
three programs (Bachelor of Business Administration, Bachelor of Applied Arts - Visual
Communications, Computer Aided Drafting & Design / Built Environment Engineering
Technology)

Achieved

Increase in international student recruitment (2% overall)

Achieved

G1. PERFORMANCE MEASURES
•
•
•
•
•
•

Total headcount enrolment (see Chart 1)
Headcount enrolment among international students (see Chart 2)
Retention rates (see Chart 3)
Number of students and faculty participating in exchange and mobility programs
Study abroad participation in 2018/2019 was lower than expected once again, as no faculty-led groups participated in study abroad. We continue
to promote to students study abroad opportunities as well as opportunities for on-campus global engagement.
Number of programs intentionally ‘internationalizing’ the curricula
Measure not available for 2018-2019
Increased number of intercultural activities on campus
Measure not available for 2018-2019
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G1. PERFORMANCE MEASURES [CONTINUED]

CHART 1: TOTAL HEADCOUNT ENROLMENT
Data is presented in a control chart format: fluctuation between the red dashed lines is considered normal; when red lines shift this is an
indication of a trend to note. MHC enrolment and program plans are focused on increasing headcount and FLE.

CHART 2: HEADCOUNT ENROLMENT: VISA STUDENTS
Data is presented in a control chart format: fluctuation between the red dashed lines is considered normal; when red lines shift this is an
indication of a trend to note.

CHART 3: FIRST YEAR RETENTION RATE
Data is presented in a control chart format: fluctuation between the red dashed lines is considered normal; when red lines shift this is an indication
of a trend to note. Increasing retention may be due to college efforts to support students.
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G2. INCREASE PARTICIPATION OF, AND CONNECTION WITH, FNMI LEARNERS
PRIORITY INITIATIVES

EXPECTED
COMPLETION DATE

STATUS

PROGRESS MADE
IN LAST 12 MONTHS

REVISED
COMPLETION
DATE

Development and implementation of an
institutional indigenization strategy

June 30, 2019

In progress

Draft Indigenization Strategy developed

June 30, 2020

Seeking feedback from elders and
community groups
Increase supports for FNMI learners

Creation of an Indigenous ambassadors
program

June 30, 2019

Complete

Hired new Indigenous Student Support
Specialist to manage relationships with
students and communities

N/A

June 30, 2019

Complete

Relocated the Indigenous Student
Support office to better support the
needs of students

N/A

June 30, 2019

Complete

Increased outreach and access to
indigenous students through class
presentations on indigenous issues and
services at the college

N/A

June 30, 2019

Complete

Provided elder access to students via
elder led ceremonies on campus

N/A

June 30, 2019

Continuing

Indigenous Peoples Circle met on an
ongoing basis to discuss key issues and
actions

N/A

EXPECTED OUTCOMES

RESULTS ACHIEVED

Completion and implementation of strategy

In draft

Enhanced supports in place for FNMI learners

Continuous

Enhanced cultural awareness across the institution

Achieved

G2. PERFORMANCE MEASURES
•

Total headcount enrolment of FNMI learners

CHART 4: TOTAL HEADCOUNT ENROLMENT OF FNMI LEARNERS
Data is presented in a control chart format: fluctuation between the red dashed lines is considered normal; when red lines shift this is an
indication of a trend to note.
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G3. EXPAND THE RANGE OF EDUCATIONAL OPPORTUNITIES TO SERVE THE REGION
PRIORITY INITIATIVES

EXPECTED
COMPLETION DATE

STATUS

PROGRESS MADE
IN LAST 12 MONTHS

Identify potential opportunities to expand
flexible learning opportunities

June 30, 2019

Ongoing

N/A
New online offerings focused on
courses that support most programs,
including Sociology 201: Introduction to
Sociology which ran both in dual credit
with St. Joseph’s Collegiate in Brooks
and online for Medicine Hat College
students. Psychology 205: Introduction to
Psychology was also offered online.

June 30, 2019

Ongoing

MHC continued working with Prairie
Rose School Division on Health Care
Aide Dual Credit incorporating Alberta
Health Services and Advanced Education
updates.

July 1, 2020

June 30, 2019

Complete

Participated in the Rural Health
Professions Action Plan, MHC introduced
nursing students (Registered Nurse and
Practical Nurse) to professions in a rural
setting.

N/A

June 30, 2019

Ongoing

Social Work cohort in Brooks offered an
evening and weekend format.

N/A

Expand evening and weekend course offerings

REVISED
COMPLETION
DATE

EXPECTED OUTCOMES

RESULTS ACHIEVED

Greater course and program offering opportunities

Achieved

Increased student enrolment from across the college’s region

Not achieved
Enrolment did decrease slightly in 2018 – 2019

Identification of new areas of program and course offerings via flexible learning

Achieved

Greater student enrolment numbers in flexible learning

Achieved

G3. PERFORMANCE MEASURES
•
•

12

Number of evening and weekend course offerings
MHC provided condensed delivery of courses such as Psychology 205 through face-to-face and blended delivery. The Social Work program was
delivered at the Brooks Campus on Friday nights and all day Saturday.
Number of flexible learning course offerings
Approximately 70 online courses are offered in a variety of programs.

G4. INCREASED AWARENESS OF SEXUAL VIOLENCE
PRIORITY INITIATIVES

EXPECTED
COMPLETION DATE

STATUS

PROGRESS MADE
IN LAST 12 MONTHS

REVISED
COMPLETION
DATE

Deconstructing stereotypical notions of
male and female and how society defines
gender identities

June 30, 2019

Complete

Removed gender options from Medicine
Hat College’s paper application form

N/A

In partnership with Medicine Hat Sexual
Assault Response Committee (SARC) increase
the knowledge and awareness of MHC
students and staff on how to appropriately
respond to disclosures

June 30, 2019

Complete

Held Gender Identity training session on
campus

N/A

June 30, 2019

Complete

Participated in an LGBTQ2S+ Audit with
the Centre from Sexuality to identify
areas for growth and improvement

N/A

June 30, 2019

Ongoing

Continuing to work with the Students’
Association to raise awareness and
provide training as appropriate

N/A

Develop training program for students and staff June 30, 2019

Complete

Two staff are now trainers for First
Responder to Sexual Abuse and Assault
training which will be offered to staff and
students on an ongoing basis.

N/A

Conduct a thorough review of MHC’s
Sexual Violence policy and procedures

Complete

Updated policy and procedure clarified
roles and best practices for receiving
disclosures.

N/A

June 30, 2019

EXPECTED OUTCOMES

RESULTS ACHIEVED

Increased capacity of students, staff and faculty on receiving a disclosure

Achieved. Updated policy and procedure clarified roles and
best practices for receiving disclosures.

Increase the confidence of students, staff and faculty to appropriately respond to
disclosure and provide support

Achieved. Two staff are now trainers for First Responder to
Sexual Abuse and Assault training which will be offered to
staff and students on an ongoing basis.

With support from the Students’ Association and other stakeholders, update the policy
and procedures as required

Achieved. Policy and Procedures will be approved in
September 2019.

G4. PERFORMANCE MEASURES
•
•
•
•
•

Number of students trained
This measure is in development and not available in 2018-2019.
Number of staff trained
37 MHC management staff have been trained in this area.
Partner with Medicine Hat Police Services to discuss consent and statistics in area
Work on this project continues with completion expected in 2019-2020.
Bystander intervention training
The training is in development pending resource availability.
Policy review to be complete by August 2018
Achieved.
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AFFORDABILITY
MINISTERIAL PRIORITY:
Every Albertan should have the same opportunity to get a post-secondary education, regardless of financial circumstance.

G5. MAXIMIZE AFFORDABILITY FOR STUDENTS
PRIORITY INITIATIVES

EXPECTED
COMPLETION DATE

STATUS

PROGRESS MADE
IN LAST 12 MONTHS

Review of textbook and learning
resource utilization

June 30, 2019

Ongoing

Use of Open Educational Resources June 30, 2020
more use of posting materials and course
packs electronically on Blackboard

June 30, 2019

Ongoing

Use of online textbook rentals, used book June 30, 2020
sales, use of library and placing materials
on reserve for students

June 30, 2019

Complete

Medicine Hat College student awards
increased from $442,000 in 2017 –
2018 to $555,000 in 2018 – 2019.

June 30, 2019

Complete

The number of students receiving awards N/A
increased from 333 in 2017 – 2018 to
414 in 2018 – 2019.

June 30, 2019

Complete

Continue to support underrepresented
N/A
groups with student awards. Examples
include the Women’s Shelter Bursary and
Indigenous Careers Awards.

Enhanced scholarship
and bursary offerings to increase
financial support for students

REVISED
COMPLETION
DATE

N/A

EXPECTED OUTCOMES

RESULTS ACHIEVED

Potentially lower costs to students

Achieved

Potentially enhanced use of OERs and other low/no cost learning resources

In progress. MHC is creating a plan for faculty to embrace
the use Open Educational Resources.

Increased dollar allocation of scholarships and bursaries

Achieved

Increased number of student recipients

Achieved

Increased number of traditionally underrepresented learners to receive scholarships
and bursaries

Achieved
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MHC BOARD OF GOVERNORS ENDS
GOALS

MHC PARTNERSHIPS ENHANCE
OPPORTUNITIES & RESOURCES

MHC IS PROACTIVE IN RESPONDING TO
NEW OPPORTUNITIES AND CHALLENGES

Medicine Hat College monitors tuition and fees relative to other members of Campus Alberta to ensure that students in the
region do not encounter excessive costs. Ongoing initiatives are designed to ensure the cost of post-secondary education is
mediated and managed.
G5

Maximizes affordability for students

G5. PERFORMANCE MEASURES
•
•
•

Percentage of instructors using open learning resources
MHC has achieved the national average of 13% to 15% of faculty using Open Educational Resource material
Total annual dollar amount allocated to scholarships/bursaries (see Table 1)
Total number of students awarded scholarships and bursaries (see Table 1)

Table 1: SCHOLARSHIPS:

Amount

# of Awards

EMERGENCY FUNDING:			
Emergency Bursary (Budget)
$2,000
2
Pathways
$28,578
33
SA Endowment
$2,809
4
Women's Shelter Bursary
$5,766
2
MHC Awards
$338,971
340
Athletic Awards
Athletic Foundation awards
$109,098
Athletic International Tuition Waivers
$67,924
13
TOTAL MHC AWARDS
$555,148
394
GOVERNMENT SCHOLARSHIPS:
Adult High School Equivalency Scholarship
Indigenous Careers Award
Jason Lang Scholarship
Jimmie Condon Athletic Scholarship
Louise McKinney Scholarship
Dr. Gary McPherson Leadership Scholarship
Laurence Decore Award for Student Leadership
TOTAL GOVERNMENT SCHOLARSHIPS
2018-2019 TOTAL AWARDS
Source: Student Financial Aid, Connie Cash

# of Recipients
2
33
4
2
277
83
13
414

$500
$48,000
$271,000
$111,600.00
$75,000.00
$4,000.00
$4,000.00
$514,100

1
24
271
124
30
2
4
456

1
13
271
74
30
2
4
395

$1,069,248

850

809
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COORDINATION
MINISTERIAL PRIORITY: ALBERTANS SHOULD GET FULL ADVANTAGE FROM A DIVERSE POST-SECONDARY SYSTEM

G6. INCREASED COLLABORATION WITH EXTERNAL INNOVATION PARTNERS
PRIORITY INITIATIVES

EXPECTED
COMPLETION DATE

STATUS

PROGRESS MADE
IN LAST 12 MONTHS

Implementation of APEX Innovation project

June 30, 2019

Complete

N/A
The APEX Incubator partnership served
97 individual entrepreneurs, and 190
businesses received enhancement
training for their operations such as
intellectual property awareness and social
media strategies. Three prototypes were
also created, along with an inventory
of hemp and cannabis companies that
identified six new proposed businesses
for the region in this sector. A Hemp and
Cannabis opportunities conference with
an emerging jobs in agriculture career.

November 2019

In progress

Partnership with Southland Volkswagen
to evaluate the use of electric vehicles in
the region

June 30, 2019

Ongoing

MHC established enhanced linkage with N/A
economic development groups such as
Invest Medicine Hat, and Verge Economic
Development to align with regional
workforce and business needs.

February 2020

Ongoing

MHC worked with partners to launch
N/A
Invest Southeast Alberta, and a
substantial business retention, expansion,
and workforce development initiative that
is expected to help inform training needs
and choices.

Ongoing regional collaboration

EXPECTED OUTCOMES

RESULTS ACHIEVED

Creation of start-ups

Achieved. See pages 31-32.

Job creation

Achieved. See pages 31-32.

Partnership engagement

Achieved. See pages 31-32.

Additional funding opportunities

Achieved. See pages 31-32.
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REVISED
COMPLETION
DATE

N/A

MHC BOARD OF GOVERNORS ENDS
GOALS

MHC STUDENTS REACH FULL POTENTIAL

MHC PARTNERSHIPS ENHANCE
OPPORTUNITIES & RESOURCES

Partnership and collaboration are hallmarks of Medicine Hat College’s approach to serving the needs of the region. Academic
partnerships enable degree completion locally, while collaboration with private and public sector organizations increases the
range of opportunities and services the college provides.
G6
G7

Increased collaboration with external innovation partners
Continued collaboration with local school divisions

G6. PERFORMANCE MEASURES
•
•
•

Number of start-ups generated
Three startups were created in the Entrepreneur Development Centre.
Number of jobs created
Four new positions were created. In the Entrepreneur Development Centre.
Number of collaborative partners
Over 500 academic, private, and public sector organizations were collaborated with.

G7. CONTINUED COLLABORATION WITH LOCAL SCHOOL DIVISIONS
PRIORITY INITIATIVES

EXPECTED
COMPLETION DATE

STATUS

PROGRESS MADE
IN LAST 12 MONTHS

REVISED
COMPLETION
DATE

Collaboration with schools districts

June 30, 2019

Ongoing

Meeting with superintendents and
principals of several school districts in
the Medicine Hat and region to address
wants and needs for the region.

N/A

June 30, 2019

Ongoing

Medicine Hat College developed a youth
entrepreneurship program with Prairie
Rose School Division and Medicine Hat
School Division.

N/A

June 30, 2019

Ongoing

500+ rural high school students took
part in skill development, mentorship,
coaching and hands-on startup training
via Entrepreneur Development Centre’s
programming and supports.

N/A

EXPECTED OUTCOMES

RESULTS ACHIEVED

Increased dual credit opportunities

In progress.

Increased enrolments

In progress.

Enhanced collaboration between Division of Trades & Technology and Continuing
Studies with schools in the Career and Technology Studies program.

Achieved. Partnership with two school districts for
Career and Technology Studies offerings.

G7. PERFORMANCE MEASURES
•

Number of dual credit opportunities
MHC has established agreements with the Medicine Hat School Division, Medicine Hat Catholic School Division, Prairie Rose School Division,
Grasslands School Division, Christ the Redeemer Catholic Schools offering a number of dual credit programming and offering space for junior and
senior high school students to use labs and trades shops for their education.
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QUALITY
MINISTERIAL PRIORITY: ALBERTANS SHOULD GET THE BEST POSSIBLE EDUCATION HERE AT HOME.

G8. PROVISION OF RELEVANT PROGRAMS, CURRICULA, RESOURCES AND FACILITIES
PRIORITY INITIATIVES

EXPECTED
COMPLETION DATE

STATUS

PROGRESS MADE
IN LAST 12 MONTHS

REVISED
COMPLETION
DATE

Continued implementation of systematic
formative program review

June 30, 2019

Ongoing

The Built Environment Engineering
Technology (BEET) program, and the
associated advisory committee, worked
to achieve accreditation by Technology
Accreditation Canada. This process
should be complete in the next academic
year.

June 30, 2020

June 30, 2019

Ongoing

June 30, 2019

Complete

June 30, 2019

Complete

The Child and Youth Care Counsellor
program achieved accreditation.

N/A

June 30, 2019

Ongoing

Additional credit programs added for
annual program review.

June 30, 2020

June 30, 2019

Ongoing

Begin implementation of summative program
review
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Sustained Program Management
Councils, and Campus Alberta Quality
N/A
Council reviews, for programs offered in
collaboration with Mount Royal University,
Bachelor of Education and Bachelor of
Business Administration twice annually.
Received favorable review and ongoing
certification from Languages Canada,
which allows MHC to recruit students
internationally.

Administrative Office Professional and
Environmental Reclamation Technician
identified for summative for review.
Template to be finalized.

N/A

June 30, 2020

MHC BOARD OF GOVERNORS ENDS
GOALS

MHC STUDENTS
REACH FULL POTENTIAL

MHC IS AN EMPLOYER
OF CHOICE

MHC PARTNERSHIPS ENHANCE
OPPORTUNITIES & RESOURCES

MHC IS PROACTIVE IN
RESPONDING TO NEW
OPPORTUNITIES & CHALLENGES

The high quality of Medicine Hat College programs and services is sustained by many ongoing review processes including
internal and external surveys.
G8
G9
G10

Provision of relevant programs, curricula, resources, and facilities
Undertake a strategic approach to academic activity
Support a dynamic teaching and learning environment

G8. PROVISION OF RELEVANT PROGRAMS, CURRICULA, RESOURCES AND FACILITIES
EXPECTED OUTCOMES

RESULTS ACHIEVED

Ongoing continuous improvement and quality enhancement of the institution’s
academic programs

Achieved. 24 credit programs participate in annual reviews.

Compliance with external body expectations around in place quality assurance
mechanisms

Achieved

Further refinement and enhancement of program review processes (e.g. data and
narrative templates)

Ongoing

Identification of programs to undergo summative review

Ongoing

Implementation of summative review process on these identified programs

In progress

Reflection and refinement of summative program review process that will enhance
future implementations

In progress

G8. PERFORMANCE MEASURES
•
•
•
•
•

Implementation of identified objectives from previous formative review.
In progress
Improvement or maintenance of data aligned with those objectives.
In progress
Student satisfaction results.
Achieved see Chart 5, Chart 6, Chart 7.
Summative review process for identified programs completed.
Achieved
Future summative review cycle identified; refinement of review process undertaken.
In development.
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G9. UNDERTAKE A STRATEGIC APPROACH TO ACADEMIC ACTIVITY
PRIORITY INITIATIVES

EXPECTED
COMPLETION DATE

STATUS

PROGRESS MADE
IN LAST 12 MONTHS

REVISED
COMPLETION
DATE

Completion of college-wide Academic Plan

June 30, 2019

Deferred

Deferred completion of academic plan to
focus on longer-term strategic plan,
and complete recruitment of vicepresident academic

N/A

June 30, 2019

Ongoing

MHC defined new process for program
and course development. This staged
process will be launched in Fall 2019.

N/A

June 30, 2019

Complete

The Power Engineering Technology
program developed online courses to
support learner access to 2nd Class
Certification.

N/A

June 30, 2019

Complete

General Academic Council approved
a certificate in Global and Intercultural
Competency as an embedded certificate
with delivery to begin in 2020.

N/A

EXPECTED OUTCOMES

RESULTS ACHIEVED

Academic Plan completed and initial implementation of identified activities initiated

Deferred

G9. PERFORMANCE MEASURES
•
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Academic plan completed; number of activities initiated or completed
Deferred

G10. SUPPORT A DYNAMIC TEACHING AND LEARNING ENVIRONMENT
PRIORITY INITIATIVES

EXPECTED
COMPLETION DATE

STATUS

PROGRESS MADE
IN LAST 12 MONTHS

REVISED
COMPLETION
DATE

Further development of active learning
classrooms

June 30, 2019

Complete

Renovation of an existing classroom
N/A
into an active learning space, bringing
the total number of active learning
classrooms to four. These spaces now
serve 49 courses and over 860 students.

Completion of new science and health
laboratories

June 30, 2019

Deferred

Seeking funding

2020-2021

EXPECTED OUTCOMES

RESULTS ACHIEVED

Continued feedback and analysis on instructor and learner experience in new active
learning classroom

Achieved. Medicine Hat College’s Teaching and Learning
department consults with faculty and students before and
after classroom renovations.

Renovation of an existing classroom into an active learning space

Achieved

Construction to be completed on new lab space in time for utilization during the
2019-20 academic year

Deferred

G10. PERFORMANCE MEASURES
•
•
•
•
•

Number of courses taught in active learning classrooms; scholarly outputs related to teaching experiences in active classrooms;
student satisfaction
49 courses offered in the active learning classrooms, serving over 860 students
Lab spaces timetabled; student and instructor feedback; student satisfaction and IDQ outcomes
This measure is in development.
Student satisfaction with overall education experience (see Chart 5)
Student satisfaction with quality of teaching (see Chart 6)
Student satisfaction with course relevance (see Chart 7)

CHART 5: STUDENT SATISFACTION WITH OVERALL EDUCATIONAL EXPERIENCE
Data is presented in a control chart format: fluctuation between the red dashed lines is considered normal; when red lines shift this is an
indication of a trend to note. MHC student satisfaction remains strong and consistent.
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CHART 6: STUDENT SATISFACTION WITH QUALITY OF TEACHING
Data is presented in a control chart format: fluctuation between the red dashed lines is considered normal; when red lines shift this is an
indication of a trend to note. MHC will monitor this measure though it remains strong and within expected performance targets.

CHART 7: STUDENT SATISFACTION WITH COURSE RELEVANCE
Data is presented in a control chart format: fluctuation between the red dashed lines is considered normal; when red lines shift this is an
indication of a trend to note. MHC will monitor this measure though it remains strong and within expected performance targets.
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ACCOUNTABILITY
MINISTERIAL PRIORITY:
POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION PROVIDERS MUST BE ACCOUNTABLE TO STUDENTS, THE GOVERNMENT AND ALBERTANS

MHC BOARD OF GOVERNORS ENDS

STUDENTS REACH
FULL POTENTIAL

MHC PARTNERSHIPS ENHANCE
OPPORTUNITIES & RESOURCES

MHC IS PROACTIVE
IN RESPONDING TO NEW
OPPORTUNITIES & CHALLENGES

G11. UNDERTAKE A STRATEGIC APPROACH TO ACADEMIC ACTIVITY
PRIORITY INITIATIVES

PERFORMANCE MEASURES

EXPECTED
COMPLETION DATE

STATUS

REVISED
COMPLETION DATE

Continued assessment and reporting

No non-compliance reported

June 30, 2019

Ongoing

June 30, 2020

G12. FULL COMPLIANCE WITH ALL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
PRIORITY INITIATIVES

PERFORMANCE MEASURES

EXPECTED
COMPLETION DATE

STATUS

REVISED
COMPLETION DATE

Ongoing review of internal controls
and financial risks through the annual
enterprise risk management process

Achieved unqualified audit
opinion from the auditor general

June 30, 2019

Ongoing

June 30, 2020

Continued review of new and existing
accounting standards to ensure
accurate and reliable financial
statements

Achieved unqualified audit
opinion from the auditor general

June 30, 2019

Ongoing

June 30, 2020

G13. FULL COMPLIANCE WITH GOVERNMENT SUBMISSIONS / REPORTING
PRIORITY INITIATIVES

EXPECTED
COMPLETION DATE

STATUS

REVISED
COMPLETION DATE

Ensure appropriate staffing for accurate Achieved submissions on time
and timely completion of government
with no errors
reporting requirements

June 30, 2019

Ongoing

June 30, 2020

Participation in provincial review and
standardization of operational financial
data and reporting

June 30, 2019

Ongoing

June 30, 2020
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PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Achieved submissions on time
with no errors

BUDGET OUTCOMES /
TUITION REGULATION
ANNUAL REPORT BUDGET OUTCOMES
Budget 2018-19 was built on the assumption of a 2% increase to the Campus Alberta grant, enrolment targets
of 2,057 full load equivalents and an overall credit tuition increase of 0%. A balanced budget was reached with
revenues of $58.33 million, expenses of $58.24 million estimating a minimal surplus of $83,800.
Although overall results at June 30, 2019 were above estimate with a surplus of $719,347, both revenues and
expenses were slightly below budget at 0.1% and 1.2% respectively. Some of the main variance drivers were
lower than expected enrolment in both credit and non-credit programming (resulting in a decrease to bookstore,
residence and parking revenue), increase in investment earnings, and significantly lower salary and benefit costs
due to frozen salaries and unfilled positions.

TUITION FEES REGULATION
$8,132,568

$44,903,352

18.11%

Statement of total tuition fee
revenue from programs under
Tuition Fee Policy

Statement of net operating
expenditures

Calculation of tuition fee revenue
as a percentage of net operating
expenditures

The Audited Financial Statements are attached starting on page 43.
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FLE ENROLMENT
PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT
Medicine Hat College continued to
explore new areas of programming
through the fiscal year. The College is
striving to develop a predictable cycle of
academic programs at both campuses
and is evaluating programs that would be
relevant and beneficial to the rural areas of
Medicine Hat College’s catchment region.
The Academic Portfolio Council has been
established with a mandate to create the
architecture for the College’s academic
structures and processes, and for providing
oversight of the College’s academic
operations and affairs. All options are
being considered for potential growth
and renewal, including flexible delivery,
blended programming, online and distance
learning, and increased course offerings
over the summer months.

CERTIFICATE PROGRAM

2018-2019

2018-2019

Administrative Office Professional Certificate

19.000

13.764

Apprenticeship

102.000

96.236

Computer Aided Drafting And Design Certificate

5.000

1.659

Early Learning And Child Care Certificate

23.000

19.876

Education Assistant Certificate

12.000

9.674

Health Care Aide Certificate

50.000

51.432

Pre-Employment

7.000

4.000

Travel Counsellor (suspended)

5.000

8.500

CERTIFICATE TOTAL

223.000

205.141

2018-2019

2018-2019

Addictions Counselling Diploma

22.000

18.596

Administrative Office Management Diploma

21.500

23.902

Built Environment Engineering Technology Diploma

27.500

26.886

Business Administration Diploma

168.500

151.892

Child And Youth Care Counsellor

30.000

31.618

Criminal Justice Diploma

83.000

80.873

Dual Social Work / Addictions Counselling Diploma *

11.000

* see note

Early Learning And Child Care Diploma

8.000

10.121

Environmental Reclamation Technician Diploma

38.500

37.604

Information Technology Diploma

55.000

48.340

Power Engineering Technology Diploma

66.000

51.727

Practical Nursing Diploma

73.500

65.668

Social Work Diploma

48.500

58.948

Therapist Assistant Diploma

83.000

75.558

DIPLOMA TOTAL

736.000

681.733

DIPLOMA PROGRAMS

(ESTIMATED FLE)

(ESTIMATED FLE)

(ACTUAL FLE)

(ACTUAL FLE)

Environmental Sciences Diploma (suspended)

* Actual FLEs for Combined Addictions/Social Work Diploma reported under Social Work Diploma
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DEGREE PROGRAM

2018-2019

2018-2019

Bachelor of Applied Arts
(Visual Communications)

90.000

85.183

Bachelor of Applied Health Sciences (Paramedic)

87.000

90.009

Bachelor of Business Administration
(Collaborative with MRU)

42.000

48.464

Bachelor of Education
(Collaborative with MRU)

65.000

62.300

DEGREE TOTAL

284.000

285.956

2018-2019

2018-2019

UT: Bachelor of Arts

75.000

63.289

UT: Bachelor of Commerce

23.000

18.976

UT: Bachelor of Education

116.000

116.555

UT: Bachelor of Nursing

115.000

111.394

UT: Bachelor of Science

115.000

115.156

UT: Bachelor of Science (Engineering)

14.000

16.336

UNIVERSITY TRANSFER TOTAL

458.000

441.706

NON-CREDIT

2018-2019

2018-2019

English As A Second Language - General (Canadian)

25.000

30.855

English As A Second Language - International

33.000

33.988

Open Studies

123.000

126.827

Upgrading

175.000

149.238

NON-CREDIT TOTAL

356.000

340.908

UNIVERSITY TRANSFER PROGRAM

GRAND TOTAL
INTERNATIONAL
STUDENT FLE

(SUBSET OF GRAND TOTAL)

(ESTIMATED FLE)

(ESTIMATED FLE)

(ESTIMATED FLE)

(ACTUAL FLE)

(ACTUAL FLE)

(ACTUAL FLE)

2,057.000

1,955.444

215.000

247.372

2018-2019
(ESTIMATED FLE)

2018-2019
(ESTIMATED FLE)

2018-2019
(ACTUAL FLE)

2018-2019
(ACTUAL FLE)
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CREDIT PROGRAMS
ADULT BASIC EDUCATION (ABE)

COMPUTER AIDED DRAFTING AND

MEDICAL LAB SCIENCE [UT*]

ACADEMIC TRANSITION PLAN

DESIGN (CADD)

MEDICINE [UT*]

ADDICTIONS COUNSELLING

CRIMINAL JUSTICE

NURSING

ADDICTIONS COUNSELLING/

DENTAL HYGIENE [UT*]

NUTRITION [UT*]

SOCIAL WORK

DENTISTRY [UT*]

OCCUPATIONAL/PHYSICAL

ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICE

EARLY LEARNING AND CHILD CARE

THERAPIST ASSISTANT
PARAMEDIC

MANAGEMENT
ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICE

EDUCATION

PHARMACY [UT*]

PROFESSIONAL

EDUCATION ASSISTANT

PLUMBER

ARTS [UT*]

ELECTRICIAN

POWER ENGINEERING

AUTOMOTIVE SERVICE

ENGINEERING [UT*]

TECHNOLOGY

TECHNICIAN

ENGLISH AS A SECOND LANGUAGE

PRACTICAL NURSE

BUILT ENVIRONMENT ENGINEERING

ENVIRONMENTAL RECLAMATION

RIG TECHNICIAN

TECHNOLOGY

TECHNICIAN

SCIENCE [UT*]

BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION

FINE ARTS [UT*]

SOCIAL WORK

CARPENTER

HEALTH CARE AIDE

SOCIAL WORK [UT*]

CHILD AND YOUTH CARE

HEAVY EQUIPMENT TECHNICIAN

SPEECH LANGUAGE

COUNSELLOR

HUMAN SERVICES

PATHOLOGIST ASSISTANT

COLLEGE PREPARATION

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

STEAMFITTER/PIPEFITTER

COMMERCE/MANAGEMENT

JOURNALISM [UT*]

VETERINARY MEDICINE [UT*]

COMMUNICATION STUDIES

KINESIOLOGY [UT*}

VISUAL COMMUNICATIONS
WELDER

OTHER PROGRAMMING
CONSERVATORY OF MUSIC AND DANCE
CONTINUING STUDIES
* UT = UNIVERSITY TRANSFER
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REPORT ON ACTIVITY
This section features
specific activity related to
research and innovation,
community outreach,
internationalization,
capital projects and
information technology.
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RESEARCH, APPLIED RESEARCH,
A N D S C H O L A R LY A C T I V I T Y
SCHOLARLY ACTIVITY
As a teaching-focused institution that
prides itself on the student experience
and student success, Medicine Hat
College continues to support faculty led
scholarship in the scholarship of teaching
and learning. Scholarship of teaching
and learning is now recognized for its
importance by the Government of Alberta
and many postsecondary institutions,
and this avenue of research provides
college faculty an immediate opportunity
to engage in action research to make
evidence-informed decisions about their
teaching practice. Medicine Hat College’s
Centre for Innovation and Teaching
Excellence supports scholarship of teaching
and learning in many ways, including
the ExCITE Teaching and Learning
Enhancement Grant program, the Teaching
Fellows appointment, and individual
consultations with faculty.

•

Research into the emotional
experiences and psychological
discomfort of faculty who choose to
report academic integrity violations.

•

A study on the nutritional habits and
vitamin deficiencies of Medicine Hat
College students.

Built Environment Engineering
Technology students involved in the
design and installation of a “Sunshine
Garden”/solar classroom as a result of
being the first Canadian institution to
win the EBSCO Solar Grant.

•

A research study to understand factors
influencing a sense of belonging
among international students at
Medicine Hat College. The results will
have scientific interest that may benefit
future international students and postsecondary institutions within Alberta.

•
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An analysis of the Occupation
Therapist/Occupational Therapist
Assistant and Physiotherapist/
Physiotherapist Assistant’s supervisory
role in the teaching and learning of
students.

•

Dr. Elizabeth Pennefather-O’Brien
is leading a study with several college
faculty looking into the incidence of
post-traumatic stress discovered in
the Southeast Alberta region among
immigrants / refugees in rural southern
Alberta. This study is being funded
through a grant by Immigration,
Refugees and Citizenship Canada.

•

Dr. Andrea Burnett presented
preliminary results of the posttraumatic stress disorder study at the
Regional Mental Health Conference in
Brooks.

•

Jason McLester is examining whether
or not the use of Kinetisense (a
3D motion analysis system that
provides objective data and scoring
of movements) with boys and girls
enrolled in the Hockey and Baseball
Academies Grade 6-9 at Notre Dame
Academy will create the desire for
students to move more and more
proficiently. The long-term vision
of this project is to monitor student
progress over a number of years at
Notre Dame Academy to assess their
quantitative improvement through
various intervention strategies.

•

Russel Krasnuik has started a study to
qualitatively examine age continuum
of balance and posture with the use
of Kinetisense with older adults in the
college community. The study engages
the kinesiology students with applied
learning using a new technology
assessing human movement.

A few examples of Medicine Hat College’s
scholarly activity shows diverse engagement
with scholarship:
•

Scholarship of teaching and learning
projects over the past year include:
•

research applies to any faculty thinking
of moving toward a flipped or
blended class design, or anyone who is
considering ways of reducing resistance
to their own flipped classroom.

Leeanne Sadowski presented at the
World Federation of Occupational
Therapists in South Africa. Her
research included an internet-based
qualitative study to determine
what experiential impact having an
Occupational Therapist Assistant,
Physical Therapist Assistant or
Occupational Therapist Assistant
/ Physical Therapist Assistant in
educational preparation had on student
performance in fieldwork.

•

Lorelei Boschman, Colleen Whidden,
and Jason McLester presented research
into experiential learning at the
University of Calgary Conference on
Learning and Teaching.

•

Dr. Kristen Desjarlais-Deklerk
presented at the annual meeting of
the Society for the Study of Social
Problems.

•

Rick Robinson presented jointly on
his collaborative research with Sheryl
Boisvert of Norquest College at The
Teaching Professor Conference in
Austin, Texas. Their study considers
the effects of gradually moving
pedagogy toward the flipped classroom
by comparing introductory accounting
classes from two institutions. Their

In 2019-2020, the Centre for Innovation
and Teaching Excellence has committed
to two ExCITE Teaching and Learning
enhancement projects, totaling $16K. The
projects include:
•

Dr. Geoff Hamilton and Christy Gust
for the development of a website
targeted at K-12 educators in Canada
to share resources and dialogue about
Indigenizing the curriculum by sharing
perspectives, lessons plans, and other
resources.

•

Lorelei Boschman for research into
learning intensives for education
students. Experiences that bring
small groups of students together in
a common intellectual experience is
classified as high-impact practices.

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
Medicine Hat College continues to focus on
economic and workforce development by
aligning innovation and entrepreneurship
to business needs and emerging industries
in the region. Activity in the previous year
shows continued growth in this aspect of
the college.

needs. This project is timely, as emerging
industries project over a 1,000 new jobs in
the region in the coming years.
ENTREPRENEURSHIP
The Entrepreneur Development Centre
has been helping MHC students and
alumni to start businesses through one-onone entrepreneurship coaching, training,
mentorship and grants. A Royal Bank
of Canada Foundation seed funding
investment in support of entrepreneurial
students and alumni launched the
Entrepreneur Development Centre program
in 2010. This valued contribution, expertise,
and mentorship has been an important part
of helping students and alumni bring their
entrepreneurship dreams to life.
Over the term of the program, Royal
Bank of Canada and many other program
supporters have been integral in creating a
startup environment where entrepreneurs
have access to the support, funding and
expertise needed to succeed in business.

The college is a collaborative partner in
regional economic development activity.
Notable activity in 2018-2019 includes
a leadership role in the emergence of
Invest Southeast Alberta, a collaboration
of government and organizations, as
well as participation on the Palliser
Economic Partnership, a consortium of all
municipalities in southeastern Alberta.

One-to-One
Client Services and Mentorship
The Entrepreneur Development Centre
provides one-to-one coaching services to
aspiring student and alumni entrepreneurs.
In addition, as part of the coaching
process, clients are connected with industry
professionals and business mentors to assist
with developing their startups. The coaching
and mentorship services provided clients
with the expertise and connections needed
to assist in moving their ideas forward and
work through the Medicine Hat College
Start Up Company Program.

The first project of the group focuses on
business retention and expansion, as well
as workforce development. Known as
BREWD, this project will help understand
business needs, and is designed to engage
employers in solutions to address workforce

Medicine Hat College
Start Up Company Program
and Pitch Competition
Three entrepreneurial students graduated
from the program last year and have started
new businesses. Participants received

various cash investments, in-kind supports,
and expert industry mentors.
Medicine Hat College
Start Up Pub Pitch Nights
Pitch Nights were held at Medicine Hat
Brewing Company in October, January,
April, and June. Aspiring entrepreneurs
were able to pitch their business ideas to
an audience and a panel of judges. Pitch
nights give entrepreneurs at the ideation
stage a venue for feedback and lean startup
investment.
Royal Bank of Canada
Start-Up Seminar Series
The Royal Bank of Canada Foundation
supported the Royal Bank of Canada
Start Up Company Seminar Series
entrepreneurship seminars on and off
campus. The 11 learning sessions were
attended by 440 students, alumni and
community members from diverse
backgrounds, education and industry
streams. The education and training
provided focused on financial and
accounting literacy, entrepreneurship,
small business startup basics, intellectual
property business pitching, and founder’s
perspectives.
Medicine Hat College Rural High
School Entrepreneurship Outreach
Almost 90 students from four high schools
in Prairie Rose School Division received
weekly entrepreneurship education in
their local classrooms through a new pilot
supported by the Royal Bank of Canada
Foundation.
This outreach education in Oyen, Foremost,
Bow Island and Dunmore allowed students
to experience entrepreneurship by building
ventures for the new regional Prairie
Rose School District Badlands Cre8tions
Learning Store in Dunmore. Students
worked in teams and pitched their ideas at
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the Prairie Rose School District Student
Pitch Competition in January 2019 at
Medicine Hat College. Participants received
cash investments and tuition credits toward
post-secondary education at the college.
Collaborations and
Community Outreach
In support of improving programs and
services for entrepreneurs and increasing
rates of successful entrepreneurial ventures,
we continue to foster current and new
partnership alliances. A focus on building
and fostering positive relationships with
the Entrepreneur Development Centre
Advisory Committee members, local
business and industry mentors and local,
regional, and provincial entrepreneurship
focused organizations allowed for improved
quality of program and client experience
and the exploration of new partnership
discussions.
In addition, we continued our partnership
with Community Futures and Alberta
Innovates, to provide business development
services for SE Alberta through the APEX
Regional Innovation Network. One of the
companies helped through the partnership,
was Literacy Lane, who was invited to
present their literacy improvement tool
for children at Dragon’s Den in Toronto.
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The company was also awarded Desjardins
GoodSpark Program award of $20,000
helping their kits of educational decals be
placed in schools across Canada.
Through the APEX Incubator partnership
last year, a total of 97 entrepreneurs were
assisted by Business Development Advisors
and 190 businesses received enhancement
training for their operations such as IP
awareness and social media strategies. Three
prototypes were also created, along with an
inventory of hemp and cannabis companies
that identified six new proposed businesses
for the region in this sector.
APPLIED RESEARCH
Medicine Hat College worked with partners
to launch applied research projects, with
faculty and student engagement, to support
regional development.
Transportation
Working with the expectation that electric
vehicles (EV) are expected to become
more prevalent in the future, Medicine
Hat College partnered with Southland
Volkswagen, which provided a 2018 e-Golf
for a year, to help students and faculty gain
access to new technology. The project was
intended to help consumers understand
the use of EV by providing data and

information about the use of the vehicle.
A college information technology student
gained the opportunity to gather, manage,
and present a wide array of information
about the vehicle including creating an
online dashboard of the findings.
Renewable Energy
Medicine Hat College completed the first
phase of the campus microgrid in 2018 –
2019, including a solar PV parking canopy
with electric vehicle charging stations,
small-scale wind turbines, and associated
control technologies. This project provides
experiential learning for students and a test
site for innovators in renewable energy
development. The grid project spurred
the creation and presentation of courses
in renewable energy focusing on solar PV
installation and commissioning, and the
practical use of microgrids.
Prototyping
Launched with external funding, Medicine
Hat College continued to serve regional
innovators with prototyping services with
the on campus 3D printer. Among other
projects, the prototyping service was
deployed to create a potential new product
line for recycled rubber in conjunction with
the solar PV canopy.

OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW

PHOTO: REGIONAL HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS HAD THE
OPPORTUNITY TO SHARE THEIR BUSINESS CONCEPTS
AND WIN STARTUP FUNDING AT A PITCH COMPETITION AT
MEDICINE HAT COLLEGE.
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REGIONAL ACCESS, LEARNING
& STEWARDSHIP
REGIONAL ACCESS
Medicine Hat College continued to explore
new areas of programming through the
fiscal year. The college is striving to develop
a predictable cycle of academic programs at
its campuses and is evaluating programs that
would be relevant and beneficial to the rural
areas of Medicine Hat College’s catchment
region. Possible extensions or rural cohorts
stemming from existing programs are also
in consideration. To this end, a cohort
of interested students in the Educational
Assistant program was formed in the
summer of 2019. This cohort is taking
Educational Assistant program courses by
distance learning while working in Brooks
which provides a valuable service and fills a
service gap in the community.
The new blended delivery model for the
Registered Social Work program in Brooks
has been quite successful in its first year
and has met the needs of students currently
working in fields where they could apply
the Registered Social Work credential
upon completion of the program. The
Registered Social Work program, now
entering its second year, is receiving positive
community attention and inquiries for the
program’s continuation are being fielded
by Brooks campus personnel. The success
of this initiative may indicate additional
opportunities to offer programs through a
combination of face-to-face and distance
learning.
The Registered Social Work diploma
program delivery was redesigned to adapt
to employed mature learners. While the
program and course content remains the
same, the delivery was new and novel
to Brooks Campus. The program was
implemented in September 2018 and
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continues to include evening, weekend and
blended (face-to-face and online) courses.
The Health Care Aide certificate program is
in demand in the Brooks area. In response
to this demand, a face-to-face cohort will
be offered in September 2019. There has
been overwhelming community support for
the return of this program to the Brooks
campus. The Health Care Aide program
is undergoing significant provincially
mandated curriculum changes, and service
agencies in the community are looking
forward to students graduating from the
new and enhanced program.
FOUNDATIONAL LEARNING
Adult Basic Education and
College Preparation
Medicine Hat College offers classes within
its Adult Basic Education and College
Preparation programs. Students may choose
to take their coursework via traditional
classroom, or in some cases, via our Open
Learning Centre or through online learning.
It is our goal to afford students with
opportunity to choose those courses that
best fit their program plans and by means
that best suit their personal circumstances.
We also offer tutorial support, in addition
to class hours, so that students may seek
assistance.
Medicine Hat College instructors who hold
Alberta Education teaching certificates,
offer a Basic High School Drop-In service
twice weekly for two hours each day. They
service regional junior and high school
students in all the core subject areas,
including all three of the sciences as well as
study skills in general. We find this service
to be an invaluable link between the college

and our local schools which helps ease
the transition for graduating high school
students registering in our college programs.
English for New Canadians
Some of our students who are permanent
residents or wishing to become so have
taken advantage of our English for New
Canadians classes. It is here that students
may come once they worked through
settlement programming and proceed with
us up to and including College Preparation.
Many of our students continue on to
certificate and diploma programming both
at our Medicine Hat and Brooks campuses.
Internationalization
In late 2018 we began work on a specialized
tutorial room for our English for Academic
Purposes and English as a Second Language
students. It is here there students for whom
English is a second (or another) language
may come for assistance with course
assignments, presentations, support, and
community. Faculty have begun building out
modules that may be accessed anytime from
any place. Faculty are encouraged to inform
us as to how these online resources can be
expanded, and how they may work with
centre staff and college students to make
this a safe and evolving learning space.
Medicine Hat College had previously
convened the Brooks English Language
Learner Services meeting twice each year.
An issue continues to exist surrounding
English Language Learner youth who are
“aging out” before having enough time to
acquire both English language skills and a
high school diploma and remains a priority
focus for this group. Some resolution may
be possible in the near future (2019 – 2020)
through a possible paring of the language

instruction for newcomers with college
upgrading. Discussion regarding this as a
possible solution are being brought forth to
the school districts in the Fall of 2019.

Hat College Continuing Studies. The
consecutive successes of these conference
will lead to planning for the 3rd Annual
Brooks PowerUp! in Spring 2020.

The High School Connections –
Dual Credit, Career and Technology
Studies and Career and Technology
Foundations
Currently, Medicine Hat College has
agreements with the Medicine Hat Public
School Division, Medicine Hat Catholic
School Division, Prairie Rose School
Division, Grasslands School Division,
and Christ the Redeemer Catholic
Schools offering a number of dual credit
programming and offering space for junior
and senior high school students to use labs
and trades shops for their education. Some
of the dual credit programming are: Health
Care Aide, Trades (welding, electrical),
university transfer courses (business,
criminal justice and social sciences), and
Education Assistant. In addition, we also
have an agreement with the Dynamite
Academy in Brooks, which operates a
licensed and accredited childcare program,
providing early learning and child care
programming.

The college also was a founding sponsor
for the 2018 Rural Mental Health
conference. The coalition that brought this
conference together consisted of Family
and Community Support Services agencies
in Brooks and Bassano, Newell Further
Education, local women’s shelter, City of
Brooks and County of Newell, Alberta
Health Services, and three Medicine Hat
College departments. Additional funds
necessary to deliver this conference were
raised from local and corporate businesses
operating in the area. It was a 3 day
event held in November with over 110
participants from all over Alberta attending.
Spin off grassroots services have been
noticed in smaller rural communities as a
result of the inspiration and encouragement
from the conference activities. A second
conference is currently being planned for
May, 2020 in Brooks.

REGIONAL STEWARDSHIP
Medicine Hat College was a founding
gold level sponsor for the inaugural Power
UP! Brooks 2017 conference, and once
again supported the PowerUP! Brooks
2018 conference. This conference is
a collaborative effort of several local
community, regional and municipal
agencies that are focused on developing
and supporting local entrepreneurs and
businesses in Brooks and the County of
Newell. Following the conference, business
courses were offered through Medicine

The college is a partner in developing Board
Leadership in Southeast Alberta. One day
training events occur annually in Medicine
Hat and bi-annually in Brooks. Medicine
Hat was the first community outside of
Edmonton and Calgary to offer this exciting
board training opportunity and is now in its
third consecutive year of hosting the event
in our region.
Submission of grant applications to expand
English as a Second Language offerings
continued at Brooks Campus. A grant
proposal was submitted to the federal
government in Spring 2019 for Language
Instruction for Newcomers to Canada for

English Instruction for Canadian Language
Benchmarks levels 5 – 8. It is expected that
expanded English as a Second Language
programming made possible through
this contract with Immigration Refugee
Citizenship Canada will begin in April 2020.
Community Adult Learning Programs are
an important pathway to education for
foundational learners. The college continued
to support Community Adult Learning
Programs by assisting with professional
development training for Community Adult
Learning Programs staff in partnership
with the Community Learning Network,
in sitting or advising their community
boards, and by designating one of the
academic advisors to deal specifically with
Community Adult Learning Programs
requests and questions. Partnership
agreements have been signed and updated
between Adult Basic Literacy Education,
Brooks Community Adult Learning
Council, and Newell Further Education.
Medicine Hat College is assisting the
foundational learners in the County of
40 Mile (Foremost / Bow Island), by
administering the Community Adult
Learning Programs grant for those
communities and aligning the foundational
learning programs with the Community
Adult Learning Programs mandate.
Regional Stewardship efforts with
Community Adult Learning Programs
completing community needs assessments
are ongoing and expect to be completed
in February or March of 2020. This
information will be collated and result in a
regional lens being applied to informal and
foundation learning needs in the Medicine
Hat College service area.
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INTERNATIONALIZATION
OPERATIONAL OVERVIEW
At Medicine Hat College, we aim to provide and support opportunities for students, faculty and staff to take part in rich international and
intercultural learning experiences. We host approximately 300 international students each year and are committed to providing them an
exceptional learning environment. In our internationalization efforts, we embrace diversity, emphasize learner success and strive to cultivate
an environment of sustainability and transparency, while building strong internal, community-based and international partnerships.
Our internationalization efforts focus on
three primary goals and we assess progress
toward these goals annually.
STUDENTS ENGAGE ACROSS CULTURES
ON CAMPUS AND HAVE OPPORTUNITIES
FOR EXPOSURE TO VARYING CULTURAL
PERSPECTIVES
Meaningful connections across cultures
help our students, faculty and staff build
the intercultural competencies needed
for responsible, engaged citizenship and
personal and professional success. We
aim to develop and promote global and
intercultural learning opportunities both oncampus and internationally.

•

Cultural awareness amongst Medicine
Hat College students is measured as
the proportion of student satisfaction
respondents who felt their postsecondary education greatly added to
their appreciation of other cultures.
This measure has remained relatively
stable at around 70% for the past four
years.

•

Four Medicine Hat College students
took part in education abroad
programming in 2018-2019.

•

We saw a decline (from 66% to 54%)
in the extent and quality of interaction
that international students have with
other students, faculty and staff, as
measured by the Collaborative Learning
Average for international students
on Medicine Hat College’s Student
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Learning and Engagement survey.

•

The proportion of students reporting
in the Student Satisfaction Survey to
have a friend from another culture
increased again for both domestic and
international students to 73% and 96%
respectively from 72% and 94% in
2018 and 70% and 90% in 2017.

preparedness for study at Medicine
Hat College and to proactively identify
and work with students at risk are in
place and are expected to yield positive
results.

•

INTERNATIONAL STUDENTS FEEL VALUED
AND SUPPORTED ON CAMPUS
We strive to provide a welcoming, equitable,
and inclusive student experience across
all programs and services, with targeted
support programming to help international
students reach their goals.

•

In 2018, 40 staff and faculty and 128
students took part in intercultural
awareness training, with a focus on
improving ability to shift cultural
perspective and engage comfortably
across cultures.

•

International Student Satisfaction with
the Overall Quality of Education as
measured by Medicine Hat College’s
Student Satisfaction survey was 94% in
2019 and has remained over 90% since
2011.

•

The proportion of international
students on academic probation
increased in 2017 – 2018 to 16% from
15% the previous year. Measures
to support international students’

The Supportive Environment
Average for international students,
as measured by the Student Learning
and Engagement survey refers to the
student’s perception of the degree
to which the college is committed
to supporting their success. The
Supportive Environment Average for
2018 (67%) decreased from 2017 (79%)
but remained above previous available
measures of 63% (2015) and 61%
(2013).

WE HAVE MORE SUCCESSFUL
INTERNATIONAL STUDENTS AT MEDICINE
HAT COLLEGE
International student recruitment activities
at Medicine Hat College aim to support
overall College enrolment goals. Because
international enrolment growth outside of
the English for Academic Purposes (EAP)
program is limited by institutional caps, our
efforts focus primarily on recruiting for
undersubscribed programs and for diversity,
student success and best fit across Medicine
Hat College’s programs.

•

International Student Enrolment in
English for Academic Purposes was
stable at approximately 35 students.

•

International Student Enrolment in
Credit Programming (excluding English
for Academic Purposes) by FLE
increased in 2017 – 2018 from 156 to
180 students.

•

The average GPA of international
students has seen decreases each
year since 2013 – 2014. Process
improvements for new applicants, as
well as expanded advising and student
supports have been implemented to
address this decline.

•

First-year international student
retention remains strong and reached
70% in 2017 – 2018.

OFF-SHORE DELIVERY
Medicine Hat College is not engaged in or
pursuing off-shore or cross-border delivery
of College programming or credentials.

PHOTOS: THE COLLEGE COMMUNITY CONNECTS
DURING INTERNATIONAL EDUCATION WEEK
AND THROUGH THE INTERNATIONAL RESOURCE ROOM.
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CAPITAL PLAN

PRIORITY PROJECTS (TOP 3 CAPITAL PRIORITIES)
Type

Description

Total Cost

Funding Sources

Funding Received to
date and Source

Revised Funding
Sources

New

Health, Wellness and
Athletics Expansion

$23 million

54% GoA
26% PSI funds
20% donation

GoA: $4.3 million
(allocated in the
2018-2019
provincial budget)

MHC applied for ICIP
funding

Please see Update #1

PSI
$6 million (reserves)
New

Brooks Campus
“Brooks Community
Commons”

$8 million

100% GoA

No funds received
to date

No change

$2 million

19 % GoA (CARES)
44% GoC (Western
Diversification)
37% industry

No funds received
to date

No change

Please see Update #2
New

Community Renewable Energy Microgrid
Demonstration Project
Please see Update #3

OTHER PROJECTS
Type

Description

Total Cost

Funding Sources

Funding Received to
date and Source

Revised Funding
Sources

New

Soccer Pavilion

$500,000

100% donation

No funds received
to date

No change

$950,000

100% GoA

No funds received
to date

No change

$1 million

100% GoA

No funds received
to date

No change

Please see Update #4
Maintenance
(Preservation)

T-Wing
Second Floor Link
Please see Update #5

Maintenance
(Preservation)

Sanitary Sewer
Renewal/
Replacement
Please see Update #6
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PROJECT TIMELINES AND STATUS
Project Description

Project
Timelines

Health, Wellness and
Athletics Expansion

Brooks Campus
“Brooks Community
Commons”

Expected
Start Date

Expected Project Project Status
Completion

Progress Made in Last 12 Months

March 2019 – Estimated
January 2021 March 2019

Estimated
January 2021

Project pending
approval and
funding

This project has been renamed the Health, Wellness
and Athletics Expansion (HWAE) project to more
accurately reflect its scope. In October 2017,
consultants (FWBA) were engaged to develop a
functional program, conceptual design, project
costing, and a business case. Project costing of
the selected conceptual design is $23 million.
A potential funding source, through the federal
Investing in Canada Infrastructure Program (ICIP),
was identified and an expression of interest was
submitted for the HWAE project in the amount
of $12 million. The delivery of the business case
resulted in the Board of Governors’ approval to
proceed with development of drawings and other
documents.

To be
determined

To be determined

Project pending
approval and
funding.

Medicine Hat College recognizes the challenge
of sustaining relevant programs and services at
Brooks Campus. The community presents unique
cultural, social, and economic attributes – not
just compared to Medicine Hat – but in relation to
almost any community in Alberta.

To be
determined

Recognizing this, Medicine Hat College is proposing
an equally unique approach as it strives for
a vital and vigorous service model in Brooks.
The vision, known as the Brooks Teaching and
Community Campus, is a fresh, dynamic approach
to community engagement and sustainability.
This project continued to be the focal point for
community and stakeholder engagement through
the past year.
Community Renewable May 2018 –
Energy Microgrid
October 2019
Demonstration Project

May 2018

July 2019

Complete

With funding from Western Diversification and
Community and Regional Economic Support, the
construction of a Community Renewable Energy
Microgrid Demonstration Project (CREMPD)
commenced in 2018 – 2019. A parking lot solar
canopy and two, electric vehicle charging stations
were ready for operation June 2019.

Soccer Pavilion

To be
determined

To be
determined

To be determined

Project pending
approval and
funding

This project was in the preliminary stages of
conceptual planning in 2018 – 2019.

T-Wing Second Floor
Link

To be
determined

To be
determined

To be determined

Project pending
funding

This project is in the planning phase. A conceptual
plan to replace the Trades handicap lift with a 2nd
floor connecting link was developed in 2015 –
2016 and updated in 2016 – 2017. The conceptual
design includes the elimination of the handicap lift
with an elevated corridor that links the second floors
of the T Wing along with the reconfiguration of the
plumbing lab mezzanine and some classrooms
impacted by the addition of the corridor.

39

PROJECT TIMELINES AND STATUS
Project Description

Project
Timelines

Expected
Start Date

Expected Project Project Status
Completion

Sanitary Sewer
Renewal/
Replacement

2018 – 2019

2018 – 2019 2018 – 2019

Project pending
funding

Progress Made in Last 12 Months
In 2015 – 2016, a conceptual design for development of the east campus in Medicine Hat was
undertaken and included in the project is consideration for upgrade of the clay sanitary sewer line that
is located that area. Due to the high risk of failure,
an IMP project to replace a section of the east
sanitary sewer line was undertaken in the summer
of 2017. Replacement of old clay infrastructure
throughout the campus continues as resources are
available.

UPDATE #1:
HEALTH, WELLNESS AND ATHLETICS
EXPANSION (G WING)
The provision of modern and accessible
wellness facilities is an ongoing aspiration
for MHC. In the past year, the college
re-envisioned this project in a manner that
would capitalize on existing funding, and
take advantage of opportunities presented
by the Investing in Canada Infrastructure
Program (ICIP). However, the potential of
ICIP funds at the scale required was not
realized.

UPDATE #2: BROOKS CAMPUS
“BROOKS COMMUNITY COMMONS”
Medicine Hat College recognizes the
challenge of sustaining relevant programs
and services at Brooks Campus. The
community presents unique cultural,
social, and economic attributes – not just
compared to Medicine Hat – but in relation
to almost any community in Alberta.

Nonetheless, aspects of the project are
of high strategic value to MHC. Planning
in 2018-2019 re-focused on previously
funded improvements to accessibility of
the existing gymnasium, and renewal of
deep infrastructure in the area. Additional
investment in facilities to enhance
simulation and cultural engagement ae
included.

Project Status:
Ongoing consultation

Expected Start Date:
Spring 2020
Expected Project Completion:
Spring 2021
Project Status:
Active planning

Expected Start Date:
Dependent on
community engagement/funding

UPDATE #3:
COMMUNITY RENEWABLE ENERGY
MICROGRID DEMONSTRATION PROJECT
With funding from Western Diversification
and Community and Regional Economic
Support, the construction of a
Community Renewable Energy Microgrid
Demonstration Project (CREMDP)
commenced in 2018 – 2019. A parking
lot solar canopy and two, electric vehicle
charging stations were ready for operation
June 2019.
This project is now complete.

UPDATE #4: SOCCER PAVILION
This aspirational project was in the
preliminary stages of conceptual planning
in 2018 – 2019. Students in the Built
Environment Engineering Technology
(BEET) program provided several unique
concepts for the project and efforts to
secure external funding continued.
Expected Start Date:
Dependent on
community engagement/funding
Project Status:
Ongoing consultation
UPDATE #5: T-WING SECOND FLOOR LINK
This project is in the planning phase. A
conceptual plan to replace the Trades
handicap lift with a 2nd floor connecting
link was developed in 2015 – 2016 and
updated in 2016 – 2017. The conceptual
design includes the elimination of the
handicap lift with an elevated corridor that
links the second floors of the T Wing along
with the reconfiguration of the plumbing
lab mezzanine and some classrooms
impacted by the addition of the corridor.
Expected Start Date:
Dependent on funding

UPDATE #6 SANITARY SEWER RENEWAL / REPLACEMENT
In 2015 – 2016, a conceptual design for development of the east campus in Medicine Hat was undertaken and included in the project is
consideration for upgrade of the clay sanitary sewer line that is located that area. Due to the high risk of failure, an IMP project to replace a
section of the east sanitary sewer line was undertaken in the summer of 2017.

40

PHOTO:
NEW ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING STATION IS PART OF
MEDICINE HAT COLLEGE’S COMMUNITY RENEWABLE
ENERGY MICROGRID DEMONSTRATION PROJECT.
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INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY

INSTITUTION’S INFORMATION SECURITY
POLICY AND FRAMEWORK
Medicine Hat College’s Information
Technology (IT) security framework
continues to mature as we ensure that
it is aligned with the college’s overall
enterprise risk management strategy. The
areas (categories) of risk managed through
policy and process in our information
security risk management framework are
the same risk categories in our enterprise
risk management strategy. This allows for
a cohesive response to IT risk within the
context of the college’s overall risk strategy,
and assurance that as our enterprise risk
strategy evolves, our IT security stance will
evolve accordingly. The policy and process
elements of our information security risk
management framework are reviewed and
renewed on a set cycle, as is our enterprise
risk management strategy.
In 2018, Medicine Hat College began to
develop a new security incident response
process that will be completed in 2019.
Information Technology Services (ITS) has
ensured that the “Cyber Security Incident
Reporting Guideline”, which the ministry
of Advanced Education implemented
in October 2018, is part of Medicine
Hat College’s response to cyber security
incidents.
A critical element of Medicine Hat
College’s IT security strategy is to continue
to expand cybersecurity awareness and
training across the college. A focus on
cybersecurity awareness will remain for the
foreseeable future.
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REPLACEMENT OF BUSINESS OPERATIONAL SUPPORT SOFTWARE SYSTEMS
For a number of years, the college has recognized that significant student service
improvements along with significant process and operational improvements will result from
a replacement of some of our business software support systems. The student facing facets
of our current student information system are poor and not conducive to the use of the
range of modern, mobile, adaptive devices. In addition, Medicine Hat College has a number
of data disparate business software support systems that make it difficult to efficiently use
these products, and present challenges in associated database and data management. Service
delivery, functional effectiveness, end-user training and support, data management and
security, and support processes across our disparate systems are currently difficult, costly
and inefficient.
In 2017 – 2018 the college completed an analysis and began vetting systems and vendors to
identify new enterprise resource planning software for the college. After much investigation
and deliberation, Medicine Hat College has chosen Unit4 as our business software support
systems. The contract between Medicine Hat College and Unit4 was signed in December of
2018.
By choosing Unit4 as our ERP software system, we will be able to develop support and
operational partnerships and efficiencies as other post-secondary institutions in Alberta
have, or will soon have, Unit4 business and student systems implemented.
Cost and internal capacity to support transitions to new systems will necessitate an
implementation of systems over about a three to four year period. We expect to implement
Financial, Human Resources and Payroll within the next 24 months. Student information
systems are scheduled to be implemented in 2023.
We have a reserved amount of $2 million which should take us through the analysis and
implementation of financial, payroll and HR systems. We expect implementation of the
components of student information systems will require another $2 million for a project
total of $4 million over four years.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Board of Governors of Medicine Hat College
Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion
I have audited the consolidated financial statements of Medicine Hat College (the Group), which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at June 30, 2019, and the consolidated
statements of operations, remeasurement gains and losses, change in net financial assets, and cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In my opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at June 30, 2019, and the results of its
operations, its remeasurement gains and losses, its changes in net financial assets, and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Basis for opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. My
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of my report. I am independent of the Group in
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit of the consolidated financial
statements in Canada, and I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for my opinion.
Other information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Annual Report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and my auditor’s report thereon. The Annual Report is expected to be made available to
me after the date of this auditor’s report.
My opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and I do
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the consolidated financial statements, my responsibility is to read
the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work I will perform on this other information, I conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, I am required to communicate the matter to those charged
with governance.
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Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated
financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless an intention exists to liquidate or to
cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor's report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, I exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. I also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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•
•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. I am responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit.
I remain solely responsible for my audit opinion.

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that I identify during my audit.
[Original signed by W. Doug Wylie FCPA, FCMA, ICD.D]
Auditor General
November 19, 2019
Edmonton, Alberta
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MEDICINE HAT COLLEGE
STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

The consolidated financial statements of Medicine Hat College have been prepared by management in
accordance with the Canadian public sector accounting standards. The consolidated financial statements
present fairly the financial position of the college as at June 30, 2019 and the results of its operations,
remeasurement gains and losses, changes in net financial assets and cash flows for the year then ended.
In fulfilling its responsibilities and recognizing the limits inherent in all systems, management has
developed and maintains a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable assurance that
college assets are safeguarded from loss and that the accounting records are a reliable basis for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
The Board of Governors is responsible for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements,
and overseeing management’s performance of its financial reporting responsibilities.
The Board of Governors carries out its responsibility for review of the consolidated financial statements
principally through its Finance and Audit Committee. With the exception of the President and CEO and
Vice-President, Administration and Finance (both are non-voting members), all members of the Finance
and Audit Committee are not employees of the college. The Finance and Audit Committee meets with
management and the external auditors to discuss the results of audit examinations and financial reporting
matters. The external auditors have full access to the Finance and Audit Committee, with and without the
presence of management.
These consolidated financial statements have been reported on by the Auditor General of Alberta, the
auditor appointed under the Post-Secondary Learning Act. The Independent Auditor’s Report outlines the
scope of the audit and provides the audit opinion on the fairness of presentation of the information in the
consolidated financial statements.
Original copy signed
Kevin Shufflebotham,
President and Chief Executive Officer
Original copy signed
Wayne Resch,
Vice-President, Administration and Finance
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MEDICINE HAT COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT JUNE 30, 2019
2019
Financial assets excluding portfolio investments restricted for endowments
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 4)

$

Portfolio investments - non-endowment (Note 5)
Accounts receivable
Inventories held for sale

1,595,032

2018

$

812,226

26,000,749

22,311,565

1,285,475

1,287,489

346,411

362,697

29,227,667

24,773,977

Employee future benefit liabilities (Note 7)

3,600,356
-

4,010,886
8,150

Debt (Note 8)

1,969,948

2,155,601

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Deferred revenue (Note 9)
Net financial assets excluding portfolio investments restricted for endowments
Portfolio investments - restricted for endowments (Note 5)
NET FINANCIAL ASSETS

$

10,265,968

6,319,952

15,836,272

12,494,589

13,391,395

12,279,388

9,769,854

9,420,950

23,161,249

$

21,700,338

Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 11)
Prepaid expenses
Net assets before spent deferred capital contributions
Spent deferred capital contributions (Note 10)
NET ASSETS (Note 12)

$

Net assets is comprised of:
Accumulated surplus

67,918,551

70,422,563

763,430

870,383

68,681,981

71,292,946

91,843,230

92,993,284

44,174,169

46,352,257

47,669,061

$

46,485,032

Accumulated remeasurement gains

45,412,358
1,228,669

1,184,029
$

47,669,061

46,641,027

$

46,641,027

Contractual rights (Note 14)
Contingent liabilities and contractual obligations (Note 13 and 15)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MEDICINE HAT COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

Revenues
Government of Alberta grants (Note 19)
Federal and other government grants (Note 19)
Sales of services and products
Student tuition and fees
Donations and other grants
Investment income

$

Expenses (Note 16)
Instruction general
Instruction collaborative degrees
Academic support
Student support
Institutional support
Facility operations and maintenance
Ancillary services
Computing services
Sponsored research

Annual operating surplus (deficit)

Actual

2018
Actual

38,624,100 $
138,600
5,413,700
12,814,600
429,000
905,000

39,727,295 $
158,668
5,212,875
11,619,337
324,947
1,222,094

37,919,514
169,320
5,213,308
11,529,743
402,583
839,228

58,325,000

58,265,216

56,073,696

20,737,600
2,460,100
4,491,200
6,905,100
5,430,600
10,816,100

19,906,579
2,370,229
4,306,880
6,826,474
5,513,840
11,671,956

20,860,374
2,339,745
4,148,028
6,539,589
6,572,717
10,137,058

4,220,700
2,865,700
314,100

3,969,754
2,888,939
91,218

4,088,504
2,968,104
74,180

58,241,200

57,545,869

57,728,299

Budget
(Note 21)

$

2019

83,800 $

Endowment contributions (Note 12)
Annual surplus (deficit)
Accumulated surplus at beginning of year
Accumulated surplus at end of year

$

719,347 $

(1,654,603)

353,327

215,274

1,072,674

(1,439,329)

45,412,358

46,851,686

46,485,032 $

45,412,358

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MEDICINE HAT COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL ASSETS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

Budget

2019

2018
Actual

Actual

(Note 21)

Annual Surplus (deficit)
Acquisition of tangible capital assets
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Loss on sale of tangible capital assets
Change in prepaid expenses
Change in spent deferred capital contributions
Change in accumulated remeasurement gains (losses)
Increase (decrease) in net financial assets

$

83,800 $
(2,425,000)
5,639,700
50,000
31,600
(2,691,800)
161,800
850,100

1,460,911

Net financial assets, beginning of year
Net financial assets, end of year

1,072,674 $
(3,103,111)
5,570,222
36,900
106,954
(2,178,088)
(44,640)

$

(1,439,329)
(2,692,265)
5,649,156
29,444
(219,030)
(2,003,457)
368,260
(307,221)

21,700,338

22,007,559

23,161,249 $

21,700,338

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MEDICINE HAT COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF REMEASUREMENT GAINS AND LOSSES
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

2018

2019
Accumulated remeasurement gains at beginning of year

$

1,228,669 $

860,409

Portfolio investments

(160,206)

449,782

Amounts reclassified to consolidated statement of operations:
Portfolio investments

115,566

(81,522)

Unrealized gains (losses) attributable to:

Accumulated remeasurement gains at end of year

$

1,184,029 $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

1,228,669
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MEDICINE HAT COLLEGE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019
2019
Operating transactions
Annual surplus (deficit)

$

2018

1,072,674 $

(1,439,329)

Add (deduct) non-cash items:
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets
Expended capital recognized as revenue

5,570,222

5,649,156

36,900

29,444

(2,906,564)

Decrease in employee future benefit liabilities

(8,150)

Change in non-cash items

2,692,408

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable
Decrease in inventories held for sale

(123,281)

16,286

229,663

(410,530)

669,205

3,754,120

Increase in deferred revenue
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses

997,390

106,954

Cash provided by operating transactions

(194,687)
2,492,290

2,014

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities

(2,991,623)

(219,030)

7,233,926

2,606,908

Acquisition of tangible capital assets, less in-kind donations

(3,103,111)

(2,692,265)

Cash applied to capital transactions

(3,103,111)

(2,692,265)

(3,954,954)

(726,740)

Capital transactions

Investing transactions
Purchase of portfolio investments
Proceeds on sale of investments

64,122

Cash applied to investing transactions

210,303

(3,890,832)

(516,437)

Financing transactions
(185,653)

(174,733)

Increase in spent deferred capital contributions

Repayment of debt

728,476

988,166

Cash provided by financing transactions

542,823

813,433

Increase in cash and cash equivalents

782,806

211,639

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

812,226

600,587

1,595,032 $

812,226

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 4)

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MEDICINE HAT COLLEGE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019
Note 1 Authority and Purpose
The Board of Governors of Medicine Hat College is a corporation which manages and operates Medicine
Hat College (“the College”) under the Post-Secondary Learning Act (Alberta). All members of the Board of
Governors are appointed by either the Lieutenant Governor in Council or the Minister of Advanced
Education, with the exception of the President, who is an ex officio member. Under the Post-Secondary
Learning Act, Campus Alberta Sector Regulation, the College is a comprehensive community institution
offering diploma and certificate programs as well as a full range of continuing education programs and
activities. The College is a registered charity, and under section 149 of the Income Tax Act (Canada), is
exempt from payment of income tax.

Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices
(a) General – Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards (PSAS) and Use of Estimates
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian public
sector accounting standards.
The measurement of certain assets and liabilities is contingent upon future events; therefore, the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires the use of estimates, which may
vary from actual results. The College’s management uses judgment to determine such estimates.
Employee future benefit liabilities, amortization of tangible capital assets and the revenue
recognition for expended capital are the most significant items based on estimates. In
management’s opinion, the resulting estimates are within reasonable limits of materiality and are
in accordance with the significant accounting policies summarized below. These significant
accounting policies are presented to assist the reader in evaluating these consolidated financial
statements and, together with the following notes, should be considered an integral part of the
consolidated financial statements.
(b) Valuation of Financial Assets and Liabilities
The College’s financial assets and liabilities are generally measured as follows:
Financial Statement Component
Cash and cash equivalents
Fixed income investments
Portfolio investments
Inventories held for resale
Accounts receivable
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Debt

Measurement
Cost or amortized cost
Amortized cost
Fair value and amortized cost
Lower of cost or net realizable value
Amortized cost
Amortized cost
Amortized cost
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MEDICINE HAT COLLEGE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019
Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued)
(b) Valuation of Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued)
Unrealized gains and losses from changes in the fair value of unrestricted financial assets and
liabilities are recognized in the consolidated statement of remeasurement gains and losses. Upon
settlement, the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the consolidated statement of
remeasurement gains and losses and recognized in the consolidated statement of operations.
When the restricted nature of a financial instrument and any related changes in fair value create a
liability, unrealized gains and losses are recognized as deferred revenue.
All financial assets are tested annually for impairment. When financial assets are impaired,
impairment losses are recorded in the consolidated statement of operations. A write-down of a
portfolio investment to reflect a loss in value is not reversed for a subsequent increase in value.
For financial assets and liabilities measured using amortized cost, the effective interest rate method
is used to determine interest revenue or expense. Transaction costs are a component of cost for
financial instruments measured using cost or amortized cost. Transaction costs are expensed for
financial instruments measured at fair value. Investment management fees are expensed as
incurred. The purchase and sale of cash and cash equivalents and portfolio investments are
accounted for using trade-date accounting.
(c) Revenue Recognition
All revenues are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Cash received for which goods or
services have not been provided by year end is recorded as deferred revenue.
Government grants, non-government grants and donations
Government transfers are referred to as government grants.
Restricted grants and donations are recognized as deferred revenue if the terms for use, or the
terms along with the College’s actions and communications as to the use, create a liability. These
grants and donations are recognized as revenue as the terms are met. If the grants and donations
are used to acquire or construct tangible capital assets, revenue will be recognized over the useful
life of the tangible capital asset.
Government grants without terms for the use of the grant are recorded as revenue when the College
is eligible to receive the funds. Unrestricted non-government grants and donations are recognized
as revenue in the year received or in the year the funds are committed to the College if the amount
can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.
In-kind donations of services, materials and tangible capital assets are recognized at fair value
when a fair value can be reasonably determined. Transfers of capital assets from related parties
are recorded at the carrying value. While volunteers contribute a significant amount of time each
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MEDICINE HAT COLLEGE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019
Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued)
(c) Revenue Recognition (continued)
year to assist the College, the value of their services is not recognized as revenue and expenses
in the consolidated financial statements because fair value cannot be reasonably determined.
Grants and donations related to land
Grants and donations for the purchase of land are recognized as deferred revenue when received,
and recognized as revenue when the land is purchased.
The College recognizes in-kind contributions of land as revenue at the fair value of the land when
a fair value can be reasonably determined. When the College cannot determine the fair value, it
records such in-kind contributions at nominal value.
Endowment donations
Endowment donations are recognized as revenue in the consolidated statement of operations in
the year in which they are received, and are required by donors to be maintained in perpetuity.
Investment income
Investment income includes dividends, interest income and realized gains or losses on the sale of
portfolio investments. Investment income from restricted grants and donations is recognized as
deferred revenue when the terms for use create a liability, and is recognized as investment income
when the terms of the grant or donation are met.
(d) Endowments
Endowments consist of externally restricted donations received by the College and internal
allocations by the College’s Board of Governors, the principal of which is required to be maintained
intact in perpetuity.
Investment income earned (excluding unrealized income) on endowments must be used in
accordance with the various purposes established by the donors or the Board of Governors.
Benefactors as well as college policy stipulate that the economic value of the endowments must
be protected by limiting the amount of income that may be expended and reinvesting unexpended
income.
Under the Post-Secondary Learning Act, the College has the authority to alter the terms and
conditions of endowments to enable:
• Income earned by the endowment to be withheld from distribution to avoid fluctuations in
the amounts distributed and generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the
endowment.

13 | P a g e

MEDICINE HAT COLLEGE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019
Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued)
(d) Endowments (continued)
•

Encroachment on the capital of the endowment to avoid fluctuations in the amounts
distributed and generally to regulate the distribution of income earned by the endowment
if, in the opinion of the Board of Governors, the encroachment benefits the College and
does not impair the long-term value of the fund.

(e) Inventories Held for Sale
Inventories held for resale are valued at the lower of cost and expected net realizable value and
are determined using the weighted average method.
(f) Tangible Capital Assets
Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost, which includes amounts that are directly related to
the acquisition, design, construction, development, improvement or betterment of the assets, and
costs associated with asset retirement obligations. Cost includes overhead directly attributable to
construction and development.
Work in progress, which includes facilities and improvement projects and development of
information systems, is not amortized until after the project is complete and the asset is in service.
The cost, less residual value, of the tangible capital assets, excluding land, is amortized on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives as follows:
Buildings and renovations
Site improvements
Furniture and equipment
Systems planning and development
Library acquisitions

40 years
25 years
4 to 25 years
10 years
10 years

Tangible capital asset write-downs are recognized when conditions indicate they no longer
contribute to the College’s ability to provide services, or when the value of future economic benefits
associated with the tangible capital assets are less than their net book value. Net write-downs are
recognized as expense.
Intangible assets, works of art, historical treasures and collections are expensed when acquired
and not recognized as tangible capital assets because a reasonable estimate of the future benefits
associated with such property cannot be made.
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MEDICINE HAT COLLEGE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019
Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued)
(g) Asset Retirement Obligations
Asset retirement obligations are recognized for statutory, contractual or legal obligations,
associated with retirement of tangible capital assets when those obligations result from the
acquisition, construction, development or normal operation of the assets. The obligations are
measured initially at fair value, determined using present value methodology, and the resulting
costs capitalized into the carrying amount of the related asset. In subsequent periods, the liability
is adjusted for the accretion of discount and any changes in the amount or timing of the underlying
future cash flows. The capitalized asset retirement cost is amortized on the same basis as the
related asset and the discount accretion is included in determining the results of operations.
(h) Employee Future Benefits
Pension
The College participates with other employers in the Local Authorities Pension Plan (LAPP). This
pension plan is a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan that provides pensions for the
College’s participating employees based on years of service and earnings.
The College does not have sufficient plan information on the LAPP to follow the standards for
defined benefit accounting, and therefore follows the standards for defined contribution accounting.
Accordingly, pension expense recorded for the LAPP is comprised of employer contributions to the
plan that are required for its employees during the year; which are calculated based on actuarially
pre-determined amounts that are expected to provide the plan’s future benefits.
Long-term disability
The cost of providing non-vesting and non-accumulating employee future benefits for compensated
absences under the College’s long-term disability plans is charged to expense in full when the
event occurs which obligates the College to provide the benefits. The cost of these benefits is
actuarially determined using the accumulated benefit method, a market interest rate and
administration’s best estimate of the retirement ages of employees, expected health care costs and
the period of employee disability. Actuarial gains or losses on the accrued benefit obligation are
amortized over the average expected period the benefits will be paid.
Leave plan
The College has a leave plan available to any eligible employee called the Deferred Salary Leave
Program. See Note 7 for more detail.
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MEDICINE HAT COLLEGE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019
Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued)
(i) Basis of Consolidation
The financial statements are prepared on a line-by-line consolidated basis and include the results
of the controlled entity, Medicine Hat College Foundation.
(j) Expense by Function
The College uses the following categories of functions on its consolidated statement of operations.
Instruction and academic, student and institutional support
Expenses relating to support for the academic functions of the College both directly and indirectly.
This function includes expenses incurred by faculties for their scholarly and non-sponsored
research activities and by institutional wide administrative services. Additionally, expenses for
student awards and bursaries and other programs involving teaching and learning, and community
service specifically funded by restricted grants and donations.
Facility operations and maintenance
Expenses relating to maintenance and renewal of facilities that house the teaching, research and
administrative activities within the College. These include utilities, facilities administration, building
maintenance, custodial services, landscaping and grounds keeping, as well as major repairs and
renovations.
Ancillary services
Expenses relating to services and products provided to the college community and to external
individuals and organizations. Services include the college bookstore, parking services, food
services and student residences.
Computing services
Expenses relating to services and products provided to the college community in relation to
information technology and communication services.
Sponsored research
Expenses for all sponsored research activities specifically funded by restricted grants and
donations.
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MEDICINE HAT COLLEGE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019
Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Reporting Practices (continued)
(k) Funds and Reserves
Certain amounts, as approved by the College’s Board of Governors, are set aside in accumulated
surplus for future operating and capital purposes. Transfers to / from funds and reserves are an
adjustment to the respective fund when approved.
(l) Future Accounting Changes
In August 2018, the Public Sector Accounting Board issued PS 3280 Asset Retirement Obligations.
This accounting standard is effective for fiscal years starting on or after April 1, 2021. PS 3280
Asset Retirement Obligations provides guidance on how to account for and report a liability for
retirement of a tangible capital asset.
In November 2018, the Public Sector Accounting Board approved PS 3400 Revenue. This
accounting standard is effective for fiscal years starting on or after April 1, 2022 and provides
guidance on how to account for and report on revenue, specifically addressing revenue arising from
exchange transactions and unilateral transactions.
Management is currently assessing the impact of these new standards on the consolidated financial
statements.
Note 3 Adoption of New Accounting Standards
The College has prospectively adopted PS 3430 Restructuring Transactions. This accounting
standard is effective or fiscal years on or after April 1, 2018. PS 3430 defines and establishes
disclosure standards for restructuring transactions. The adoption of this standard did not affect the
consolidated financial statements.
Note 4 Cash and Cash Equivalents

2019
Cash on hand
Bank balances

2018

$

13,140 $
1,581,892

13,140
799,086

$

1,595,032 $

812,226
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MEDICINE HAT COLLEGE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019
Note 5 Portfolio Investments
2019

Portfolio investments - non-endowment
Portfolio investments - restricted for endowments

2018

$

26,000,749
9,769,854

$

22,311,565
9,420,950

$

35,770,603

$

31,732,515

The composition of portfolio investments measured at fair value is as follows:

Level 1
Portfolio investments at fair value
Canadian equity fund
Foreign equity fund
Bond fund
Portfolio investments at cost or amortized cost
Bank balances

Level 2

Level 3

Total

$

-

$

6,148,291 $
8,173,556
6,408,874

-

$

6,148,291
8,173,556
6,408,874

$

80,639

$

-

-

$

80,639

Money market
Short-term GIC's

959,243
14,000,000
$

Portfolio investments at fair value
Canadian equity fund
Foreign equity fund
Bond fund
Portfolio investments at cost or amortized cost
Bank balances

2019

$

$

Money market
Short-term GIC's

-

15,039,882 $
42%

20,730,721 $
58%

Level 1

Level 2

124,421

2018

-

959,243
14,000,000

- $
0%

35,770,603
100%

Level 3

Total

$

6,137,057 $
7,679,597
6,121,290

-

$

6,137,057
7,679,597
6,121,290

$

-

-

$

124,421

670,150
11,000,000
$

$

11,794,571 $
37%

$

19,937,944 $
63%

-

670,150
11,000,000

- $
0%

31,732,515
100%
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MEDICINE HAT COLLEGE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019
Note 5 Portfolio Investments (continued)
Short-term GIC’s held at June 30, 2019 were earning 2.53% (2018 – 1.99%). The average days
to maturity were 364 days (2018 – 277 days).
The effective annual rate of earnings on portfolio investments at June 30, 2019 was 4.01% (2018
2.67%) determined on a weighted average basis.
The fair value measurements are those derived from:
Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets;
Level 2 – Fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices
included in level 1 that are observable for the assets, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. derived from prices);
Level 3 – Fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include
inputs for the assets that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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MEDICINE HAT COLLEGE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019
Note 6 Financial Risk Management
The College is exposed to a variety of financial risks, including market risks (price risk, currency
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk, and liquidity risk. To manage these risks, the College
invests in a diversified portfolio of investments that is guided by established investment policies
that outline risk and return objectives. The long term objective of the College’s investment
policies is to achieve a long term real rate of return in excess of fees and expenses and maintain
the real value of the fund.
The College is exposed to the following risks:
Market price risk
Market risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in
market prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual security, its
issuer or general market factors affecting all securities. To manage this risk, the College has
established an investment policy with a target asset mix that is diversified by asset class with
individual issuer limits and is designed to achieve a long-term rate of return that in real terms equals
or exceeds total endowment expenditures with an acceptable level of risk.
The College assesses its portfolio sensitivity to a percentage increase or decrease in the market
prices. The sensitivity rate is determined using the historical annualized standard deviation for the
total fund as determined by the investment advisor. At June 30, 2019, if market prices had a 1%
(2018 – 1%) increase or decrease, with all other variables held constant, the increase or decrease
in the market value of the investment portfolio for the year would have been a total of $202,456
(2018 - $197,704).
Foreign currency risk
The College does not hold investments denominated in foreign currency. The College does
maintain a foreign bank account to pay invoices in foreign currency; however, the risk exposure to
foreign currency fluctuations is minimal.
Credit risk
Counterparty credit risk is the risk of loss arising from the failure of a counterparty to fully honor its
financial obligations with the College. The College is exposed to credit risk on investments and
has established an investment policy with required minimum credit quality standards and issuer
limits to manage this risk. The credit risk from accounts receivable is relatively low as the majority
of balances are due from government agencies and corporate sponsors. Credit risk from tuition is
managed through restricted enrolment activities for students with delinquent balances and
maintaining standard collection procedures.
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MEDICINE HAT COLLEGE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019
Note 6 Financial Risk Management (continued)
The credit risk on investments held are as follows:

Credit rating
AAA
AA
A
BBB
Not rated
Balance, end of year

Money Market

2019

57.3%
0.0%
42.7%
0.0%
0.0%
100.0%

Bond Fund

Money Market

1.0%
53.5%
45.5%
0.0%
0.0%
100.0%

2018

45.9%
8.0%
46.1%
0.0%
0.0%
100.0%

Bond Fund
0.0%
55.0%
45.0%
0.0%
0.0%
100.0%

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the College will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated
with its financial liabilities. The College maintains a short-term line of credit to ensure that funds
are available to meet current and forecasted financial requirements in the most cost effective
manner.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk to the College’s earnings that arise from the fluctuations in interest rates
and the degree of volatility of these rates. This risk is managed by investment policies that limit the
term to maturity of certain fixed income securities that the College holds. Interest risk on the
College’s debt is managed through fixed-risk agreements with Alberta Capital Finance Authority
(Note 8).
The maturity and effective market yield of interest bearing investments are as follows:

Less than 1
year
Short-term GIC's
Money market
Long-term investments

100.0%
100.0%

1 to 5 years

29.0%

Greater than 5
years

Average
effective market
yield

71.0%

2.53%
1.84%
2.86%
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MEDICINE HAT COLLEGE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019
Note 7

Employee Future Benefit Liabilities
Employee future benefit liabilities are comprised of the following:
2019

Leave plans
Retiring allowance

2018

$

-

$

8,150

$

-

$

8,150

Leave Plan
The College has a leave plan available to any eligible employee called the Deferred Salary Leave
Program (DSLP). The DSLP allows an employee to defer a specified monthly amount, or an annual
percentage of annual regular gross salary up to a maximum of 33 1/3 percent. The total period of
the deferral cannot exceed a maximum of six years.
Retiring Allowance
There was an outstanding amount in the prior year related to a previous employee whose
employment ended on June 19, 2013. As at June 30, 2019, there is no outstanding amount.
Multi-Employer Pension Plans
The Local Authority Pension Plan (LAPP) is a multi-employer contributory defined benefit pension
plan for support staff members and is accounted for on a defined contribution basis. At December
31, 2018, the LAPP reported an actuarial surplus of $3,469,347,000 (2017 - $4,835,515,000). An
actuarial valuation of the LAPP was carried out as at December 31, 2017 and was then extrapolated
to December 31, 2018. The pension expense recorded in these consolidated financial statements
is $2,747,764 (2018 - $3,065,166).
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MEDICINE HAT COLLEGE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019
Note 8

Debt
Debt is measured at amortized cost and is comprised of the following:

Debentures payable to Alberta
Capital Finance Authority:
Student residences

Maturity

Interest Rate

May 2027

6.25%

2019
Amortized
Cost

$

2018
Amortized
Cost

1,969,948 $

Principal and interest repayments in each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter

$

$

Principal
197,257 $
209,585
222,684
236,603
251,390
852,429

Interest
123,122 $
110,793
97,694
83,776
68,988
108,706

Total
320,379
320,378
320,378
320,379
320,378
961,135

1,969,948 $

593,079 $

2,563,027

Collateral for all long-term debt is the title to student residence land and buildings.
Interest expense on debt is $132,817 (2018 - $143,851) and is included in the consolidated
statement of operations.
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2,155,601

MEDICINE HAT COLLEGE
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019
Note 9

Deferred Revenue
Deferred revenues are set aside for specific purposes as required either by legislation, regulation
or agreement.

2018

2019
Unspent
externally

Balance, beginning of year

restricted grants

Tuition and

and donations

other fees

$

Grants, tuition, donations received

4,518,821

$

9,746,761

Transfers

$

1,594,519

570,132

Restricted investment income

1,801,131

6,319,952

$

5,129,734

11,341,280

7,247,553

570,132

307,235

-

-

Total

Total

-

-

-

Unrealized gains on restricted grants and donations

191,896

-

191,896

192,828

Transferred to endowments

(100,638)

-

(100,638)

(118,594)

Transferred to spent deferred capital contributions

(728,476)

-

(728,476)

(988,166)

(7,328,178)

(5,450,638)

Recognized as revenue
Balance, end of year

(5,527,047)
$

8,671,449

(1,801,131)
$

1,594,519

$

10,265,968

$

6,319,952

Note 10 Spent Deferred Capital Contributions
Spent deferred capital contributions is comprised of externally restricted grants and donations spent
on tangible capital acquisitions (not yet recognized as revenue).

Spent deferred capital contributions, beginning of year
Transfers from unspent externally restricted grants and donations
Expended capital recognized as revenue
Spent deferred capital contributions, end of year

2019

2018

$ 46,352,257

$ 48,355,714

728,476

988,166

(2,906,564)
$ 44,174,169

(2,991,623)
$ 46,352,257
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Note 11 Tangible Capital Assets

Buildings and
renovations

Land
Cost
Beginning of year

Site
improvements

2019

1,553,000 $

110,341,503 $

15,350,746 $

Additions

-

1,020,601

-

Disposals, including write-downs and transfers

-

-

$

1,553,000

-

Furniture and
equipment
20,850,544 $

Systems planning
and development

Library
acquisitions

Total

1,580,696 $

6,458,675 $

1,896,117

136,049

89,423

3,142,191

(1,125,384)

(39,080)

(124,787)

(1,289,251)

156,135,164

111,362,104

15,350,746

21,621,277

1,677,665

6,423,311

157,988,104

Accumulated Amortization
Beginning of year

-

54,490,682

10,102,573

14,103,259

1,427,863

5,588,225

85,712,602

Amortization expense

-

3,098,934

324,227

1,888,881

23,166

235,014

5,570,222

Effect of disposals

-

(1,088,484)

-

(124,787)

(1,213,271)
-

5,698,452

90,069,553

Net book value at June 30, 2019

$

1,553,000 $

57,589,616
53,772,488 $

Buildings and
renovations

Land
Cost
Beginning of year

-

10,426,800

14,903,656

4,923,946 $

Site
improvements

2018

6,717,621 $

Furniture and
equipment

1,451,029
226,636 $

Systems planning
and development

724,859 $

Library
acquisitions

67,918,551

Total

1,553,000 $

109,241,612 $

15,350,746 $

Additions

-

1,099,891

-

1,438,506

61,247

92,620

2,692,265

Disposals, including write-downs and transfers

-

-

(372,085)

-

(27,137)

(399,221)

$

1,553,000

-

19,784,123 $

1,519,449 $

6,393,192 $

153,842,122

110,341,503

15,350,746

20,850,544

1,580,696

6,458,675

156,135,165

-

51,476,566

9,777,771

12,504,946

1,298,883

5,375,059

80,433,225

Amortization expense

-

3,014,116

324,802

1,940,954

128,980

240,304

5,649,156

Effect of disposals

-

(27,138)

(369,779)
-

5,588,225

85,712,602

Accumulated Amortization
Beginning of year

Net book value at June 30, 2018

$

1,553,000 $

54,490,682
55,850,821 $

10,102,573
5,248,173 $

(342,641)
14,103,259
6,747,285 $

1,427,863
152,833 $

870,450 $

No interest was capitalized by the College in 2019 (2018 – nil).
Included in buildings and renovations is $1,840,793 (2018 - $2,006,809) recorded as construction
in progress which is not amortized as the assets are not in service.
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Note 12 Net Assets
Internally
restricted
surplus

Accumulated
surplus (deficit)
from operations
Net assets, at June 30, 2017

$

Annual operating surplus (deficit)
Transfer to endowments
Gifts of endowment principal
Net transfers
Internally funded acquisition of capital assets
Debt - repayment
Net book value of asset disposals
Amortization of internally funded capital assets
Change in accumulated remeasurement gains
Net assets, at June 30, 2018

$

(1,654,603)
163,000
(1,704,099)
(174,733)
29,444
2,657,533
368,260
$

Annual operating surplus (deficit)
Transfer to endowments
Gifts of endowment principal
Net transfers
Internally funded acquisition of capital assets
Debt - repayment
Net book value of asset disposals
Amortization of internally funded capital assets
Change in accumulated remeasurement gains
Net assets, at June 30, 2019

4,464,847

4,149,649

Net assets is comprised of:
Accumulated surplus

5,134,626

$

$

5,134,626

11,681,000

11,511,000

$

11,511,000

$

21,914,704

$

21,774,434

$

$

8,895,675

47,712,096
(1,654,603)
147,328
67,946
368,260

$

46,641,027

9,249,001

719,347
123,915
229,412
(44,640)
$

9,249,001

21,774,434

$

123,915
229,412
-

21,774,434
$

8,680,401

Total

147,328
67,946
-

2,374,635
185,653
(36,900)
(2,663,658)
-

$

22,722,848

Endowments

1,704,099
174,733
(29,444)
(2,657,533)
-

11,511,000

1,184,029
$

$

(170,000)
-

3,950,597

Accumulated remeasurement gains

11,844,000
(163,000)
-

719,347
170,000
(2,374,635)
(185,653)
36,900
2,663,658
(44,640)
$

Investment in
tangible
capital assets

47,669,061

46,485,032

$

9,249,001

1,184,029
$

47,669,061

Investment in tangible capital assets represents the amount of the College’s accumulated operating
surplus that has been invested in the College’s capital assets.
Internally restricted surplus represent amounts set aside by the College’s Board of Governors for
specific purposes. Those amounts are not available for other purposes without the approval of the
Board and do not have interest allocated to them.
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Note 12 Net Assets (continued)
Internally restricted net assets with significant balances include:

Non-Capital:
Contingency
Academic Completion Opportunities

2019
$

Capital:
Health, Wellness & Athletic Expansion
Enterprise Resource Planning Software
Ancillary services - student residence and related parking
Ancillary services - parking
$

2018

2,500,000 $
500,000
3,000,000

2,500,000
500,000
3,000,000

6,000,000
2,000,000
266,000
245,000
8,511,000

6,000,000
2,000,000
366,000
315,000
8,681,000

11,511,000 $

Note 13 Contingent Liabilities
The College has identified potential asset retirement obligations related to the existence of
asbestos in a number of its facilities. Although not a current health hazard, upon renovation or
demolition of these facilities, the College may be required to take appropriate remediation
procedures to remove the asbestos. As the College has no legal obligation to remove the asbestos
in these facilities as long as the asbestos is contained and does not pose a public health risk, the
fair value of the obligation cannot be reasonably estimated due to the indeterminate timing and
scope of the removal. The asset retirement obligations for these assets will be recorded in the
period in which there is certainty that the capital project will proceed and there is sufficient
information to estimate fair value of the obligation.
The College is a defendant in two legal proceedings. While the ultimate outcome and liability of
these proceedings cannot be reasonably estimated at this time, the College believes that any
settlement will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position or the results of
operations of the College. Management has concluded that the claims do not meet the criteria for
being recorded under PSAS.
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Note 14 Contractual Rights
Contractual rights are rights of the College to economic resources arising from contracts or
agreements that will result in both assets and revenues in the future when the terms of those
contracts or agreements are met.
Estimated amounts that will be received or receivable for each of the next five years and thereafter
are as follows:
Operating
Leases
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024

2019

Other
Contracts

Total

$

166,042
32,619
31,984
25,000
-

$

64,800
53,300
40,300
-

$

230,842
85,919
72,284
25,000
-

$

255,645

$

158,400

$

414,045

Note 15 Contractual Obligations
The College has contractual obligations which are commitments that will become liabilities in the
future when the terms of the contracts or agreements are met.
The estimated aggregate amounts payable for the unexpired terms of these contractual obligations
are as follows:

Service
Contracts
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024

2019

Capital
Contracts

Total

$

2,350,671
2,653,301
1,110,589
531,506
1,839,010

$

-

$

2,350,671
2,653,301
1,110,589
531,506
1,839,010

$

8,485,077

$

-

$

8,485,077
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Note 16 Expense by Object
The following is a summary of expense by object.

Salaries and benefits
Supplies and services
Maintenance and repairs
Utilities
Scholarships and bursaries
Interest on long-term liabilities
Cost of goods sold
Amortization of capital assets, including loss on disposals

$

$

2019
Budget
(Note 21)
37,397,500 $
9,850,100
1,954,000
1,041,000
720,500
134,800
1,453,600
5,689,700

2018
Actual

36,233,933 $
9,620,651
2,846,745
1,231,247
617,823
132,817
1,255,532
5,607,122

38,218,215
8,964,340
1,636,234
1,081,680
588,670
143,851
1,416,710
5,678,600

58,241,200 $

57,545,869 $

57,728,299

Actual

Note 17 Funds Held on Behalf of Others
The College holds the following funds on behalf of others over which the Board has no power of
appropriation. Accordingly, these funds are not included in the consolidated financial statements.

2019
Further Education Council
Alberta Student Services Conference
Students' Association
Faculty Association
Conservatory Groups
French Language Coordinator
Association of Continuing Care Educators
Thrive
College Players
Rattler Athletic Academies

2018

$

20,004 $
93
827,597
10,987
69,097
(637)
45,177
1,644
(9,053)

19,680
128
656,542
11,779
69,097
(637)
45,177
83,365
1,644
(9,053)

$

964,909 $

877,722
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Note 18 Related Parties
The College is a related party with organizations within the Government of Alberta reporting
entity. Key management personnel of the College and their close family members are also
considered related parties. The College may enter into transactions with these entities and
individuals in the normal course of operations and on normal terms.
During the year, the College’s key management personnel and their close family members did not
have any material transactions with either Medicine Hat College, the Medicine Hat College
Foundation or other Government of Alberta reporting entities that occurred at a value that was
different from that which would have been arrived at if the parties were unrelated.
During the year, the College conducted business transactions with related parties, including
Ministries of the Province of Alberta and other Alberta post-secondary institutions. The revenues
and expenses incurred for these have been included in the consolidated statement of operations
but have not been separately quantified. These transactions were entered into on the same
business terms as with non-related parties and are recorded at fair market value.
The College has long-term liabilities with Alberta Capital Finance Authority as described in
Note 8.
Note 19 Government transfers

Grants from Government of Alberta
Advanced Education:
Operating
Capital

2019

$

2018

34,310,876 $
6,217,993

33,399,958
1,937,275

40,528,869

35,337,233

Other post-secondary Institutions

440,611

540,100

Other Government of Alberta departments and agencies:
Environment and Parks
Culture and Tourism
Other

25,000
200,128
106,413

396,292
150,945
72,552

Total other Government of Alberta departments and agencies

331,542

619,789

41,301,022
2,715,266
(4,288,992)

36,497,121
2,707,561
(1,285,168)

39,727,295 $

37,919,514

Total Advanced Education

Total contributions received
Add: restricted expended capital recognized as revenue
Less: deferred contributions
$

Federal and other government grants:
Contributions received
Add: restricted expended capital recognized as revenue
Less: deferred contributions
$

321,739
139,022
(302,093)

292,820
141,893
(265,393)

158,668 $

169,320
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Note 20 Salary and Employee Benefits

2019
Base

Other Cash

Salary (1)

(4)

Goverance
Chairman of Board

$

Board (10 members)

-

Executive/Management
President/CEO (5)

Benefits (2)
$

4,425 $
20,250

2018
Other Non-cash
Benefits (3)
103 $

Total

Total

4,528 $

4,467

576

20,826

19,675
-

199,732

-

34,101

233,833

540,438

Vice-President, Academic

159,522

480

5,863

165,865

386,104

Vice-President, Advancement & Community Relations (6)

194,393

169,839

33,394

397,626

215,431

Vice-President, Administration & Finance (7)

155,033

-

27,907

182,940

214,385

Associate Vice-President, Student Development (8)

143,646

7,038

29,260

179,944

180,727

Vice Presidents:

1)
2)

3)

4)
5)

6)
7)
8)

Base Salary includes pensionable base pay.
Other Cash Benefits include vacation payouts, cell phone allowances, honoraria where
applicable and other lump sum payments. Included in other cash benefits is $151,506 in
severance benefits paid as a result of a termination agreement.
Other Non-cash Benefits include the employer’s share of all other employee benefits and
contributions or payments made on behalf of employees including pension, health care,
dental, group life insurance, employment insurance and remission of tuition fees.
The chair and members of the Board of Governors receive no remuneration for
participation on the board. Other cash benefits consist only of honorariums.
President/CEO position vacant from July 1, 2018 to April 15, 2019. Stipend paid to another
individual during this time included in base salary. A new president was hired effective
April 15, 2019.
Position vacant from June 22, 2019.
Two individuals occupied this position in the current fiscal year.
Position vacant from June 14, 2019.

Note 21 Budget Figures
Budgeted figures have been provided for comparison purposes and have been derived from the
College’s Comprehensive Institutional Plan as approved by the Board of Governors.
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Note 22 Approval of Consolidated Financial Statements
These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Governors of Medicine
Hat College.
Note 23 Comparative Figures
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation.
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